JOB ENGAGEMENT AND INDIVIDUAL WORK PERFORMANCE AMONG ACADEMIC STAFF IN MALAYSIA HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS

By

RODNEY SIN MING KEEN

A dissertation submitted to the Department of Psychology and Counseling, Faculty of Arts and Social Science, Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Psychology (Industrial and Organizational Psychology) August 2021

ABSTRACT

JOB ENGAGEMENT AND INDIVIDUAL WORK PERFORMANCE AMONG ACADEMIC STAFF IN MALAYSIA HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS.

RODNEY SIN MING KEEN

Job engagement is alarming, specifically among academic staff in Malaysia's higher educational institution. Not to mention that they may face setbacks in their job performance during the Covid-19 pandemic. Prior studies suggested that the association between job engagement and individual work performance among academic staff remains scarce and complex and deserves more attention. The present study aimed to study the association between the dimensions of job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) and individual work performance performance, (task contextual performance, counterproductive work behaviour (CWB) among academic staff in higher education institutions. The present study employed a cross-sectional and quantitative research design. Using the purposive sampling method, the target sample was 124 Malaysian academic staff recruited from three public and three private universities located in Sarawak, Sabah, Penang, Pahang, Kuala Lumpur, and Johor. The online survey method consisted of the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES-9) and Individual Work Performance Questionnaire (IWPQ) indicated good reliabilities were used to measure the variables of this study. Pearson's Product-Moment Correlation (PPMC), and Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) were conducted using SPSS version 23 to produce meaningful outcomes. The PPMC results revealed that job

ii

engagement was positively associated with task performance and contextual performance while negatively associated with CWB. The predictions results showed that job engagement predicts task performance and contextual performance but not CWB. The findings of this study contributed to the literature by exploring how the sub-dimensions of job engagement and IWP can be linked to each other independently. Practically, HEIs should pay attention to nurturing academic staff's job engagement to enhance their work performance, especially during the pandemic time.

Keywords: job engagement, individual work performance, academic staff, higher education institutions

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The journey is tough. There are a lot of challenges and setbacks throughout the two years of my Master's Degree but I am here. This could not be possible without the assistance and support given by the others. Thus, I would like to take this opportunity to deliver my appreciation to my beloved supporters.

The people whom I appreciate the most are my main supervisor and cosupervisor, Dr Lee and Mr Tan who provides guidance to me every time I have doubt about myself. Their encouragement and support are my motivation to keep progressing in my writing and amendment. Their responsiveness, kindness and helpfulness will be remembered.

Thank you to all my friends who support and accompany me throughout the journey. I am sincerely grateful to Brianna Lee, Dexter Tan, Colin Kiu and Sharon Ling who have witnessed my tears and laughter as well as my failure and my success.

Lastly, thank you to my family members who provided me with unconditional love and all kind of support I need. Thank you, God for protecting and guiding me. To God be the Glory.

APPROVAL SHEET

This dissertation/thesis entitled "JOB ENGAGEMENT AND INDIVIDUAL WORK PERFORMANCE AMONG ACADEMIC STAFF IN MALAYSIA HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS" was prepared by RODNEY SIN MING KEEN and submitted as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Psychology in Industrial and Organizational Psychology at Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman.

Approved by:

barry

(Dr. Lee Lai Meng) Date: 14 January 2022 Supervisor Department of Advertising Faculty of Arts and Social Science Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman

(Mr. Tan Soon Aun) Date: 14 January 2022 Co-supervisor Department of Psychology and Counselling Faculty of Arts and Social Science Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman

SUBMISSION SHEET

FACULTY OF ARTS AND SOCIAL SCIENCE UNIVERSITI TUNKU ABDUL RAHMAN

Date: 7th Jan 2022

SUBMISSION OF DISSERTATION

It is hereby certified that Rodney Sin Ming Keen (ID No: 20AAM03715) has completed this dissertation entitled "Job Engagement and Individual Work Performance among Academic Staff in Malaysia Higher Education Institutions" under the supervision of Dr. Lee Lai Meng from the Department of Advertising, Faculty of Arts and Social Science and Mr. Tan Soon Aun from the Department of Psychology and Counselling, Faculty of Arts and Social Science.

I understand that the University will upload a softcopy of my dissertation in PDF format into UTAR Institutional Repository, which may be made accessible to the UTAR community and the public.

Yours truly,

(Rodney)

DECLARATION

I, Rodney Sin, hereby declare that the dissertation is based on my original work except for citations which have been duly acknowledged. I also declare that it has not been previously or concurrently submitted for any other degree at UTAR or other institutions.

Name

(RODNEY SIN) Date _____7th Jan 2022_____

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
APPROVAL SHEET	v
SUBMISSION SHEET	vi
DECLARATION	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
LIST OF APPENDICES	xiv

CHAPTER

1.0	INTRODUCTION		
	1.1	Research Background	1
	1.2	Overview of Higher Education Sector in Malaysia	4
	1.3	Problem Statement	6
	1.4	Significance of the Study	9
	1.5	Research Objectives	11
	1.6	Research Questions	11
	1.7	Hypotheses	12
	1.8	Conceptual Definition and Operational Definition	13
2.0	LII	TERATURE REVIEW	16
	2.1	Demographic Variable	16
	2.2	Vigour and Task Performance	16
	2.3	Vigour and Contextual Performance	17
	2.4	Vigour and Counterproductive Work Behaviour	19
	2.5	Dedication and Task Performance	21

2.6 Dedication and Contexual Performance	22
2.7 Dedication and Counterproductive Work Behaviour	24
2.8 Absorption and Task Performance	26
2.9 Absorption and Contetxual Performance	28
2.10 Absorption and Counterproductive Work Behaviour	29
2.11 Research Gap	31
2.12 Theoretical Framework	32
2.13 Conceptual Framework	34

3.0 METHODOLOGY 36 3.1 Research Design 36 3.2 Sampling Method 36 3.3 Sample Size 38 3.4 Location 38 3.5 Demographic Information 39 3.6 Procedures 40 3.7 Instruments 41 3.8 Data Analysis 43

4.0 RESULT

4.1	Reliability	44
4.2	Normality Assumptions	45
4.3	Multiple Linear Regression Assumptions	46
4.4	Correlation	48
4.5	Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression	52

44

5.0	DISCUSSION		
	5.1 Introduction	60	
	5.2 Discussion	60	
	5.3 Implication	74	
	5.4 Limitations and Recommendations	80	

82
83
100

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE

PAGE

3.1	Demographic Information of Respondents (N = 124)	37
4.1	Descriptive Information and Cronbach Alpha Value for Pilot and Actual Study	43
4.2	Collinearity Table of Tolerance and VIF	43
4.3	Independent Error Test	44
4.4	Descriptive Statistics and One-tailed Correlation for Study Variables (N=124)	48
4.5	Hierarchical Regression Result for Task Performance	50
4.6	Hierarchical Regression Result for Contextual Performance	51
4.7	Hierarchical Regression Result for CWB	53
4.8	Summary of Hypotheses Testing	54

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE

PAGE

2.1	Conceptual Framework for H ₁ to H ₉	33
2.2	Conceptual Framework for H ₁₀ to H ₁₂	33

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

СР	-	Contextual Performance
CWB	-	Counterproductive Work Behaviour
HEI		Higher Education Institution
IWP		Individual Work Performance
SPSS	-	Statistical Program for Social Science
TP	-	Task Performance
UWES	-	Utrecht Work Engagement Scale

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX

TITLE

PAGE

А	Ethical Approval for Research Project	94
В	Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES-9)	95
С	Individual Work Performance Questionnaire (IWPQ)	96
D	Demographic Question	98
E	Histogram, Normal Q-Q plot and Boxplot	99

CHAPTER 1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Research Background

In conjunction with the ever-fluctuating shift in the business world, there is an elevated attention given to the importance of employees' engagement in contributing to their effectiveness and productivity (Schaufeli, 2012; Ushie et al., 2015). Organizations have recently shown considerable interest in cultivating employee engagement, which plays a dynamic role in pursuing organizational goals (Rana et al., 2019). Job engagement is a well-known and valid yet complex predictor of work performance. Job engagement represents an active and positive working state that consists of vigour, dedication, and absorption (Schaufeli & Van Rhenen, 2006). Vigour refers to the selfwillingness to work, resistance to challenges, working with a high level of energy and mental resilience (Chughtai & Buckley, 2011; Rana et al., 2019). Thus, a vigorous worker is highly motivated even facing difficulty under stressful situations (Kartal, 2018). The second dimension of job engagement is dedication which refers to a strong feeling of significance, inspiration, enthusiasm, and purpose toward achieving goals (Al-dalahmeh et al., 2018; Rana et al., 2019). A dedicated employee is characterized by a high job involvement, attachment, and job identification (Kartal, 2018). Absorption is defined as a high level of concentration on the job and fully engrossed in performing the task (Chugtai & Buckley, 2011; Kartal, 2018). Employees

experiencing absorption find it difficult to detach themselves from the job and time appears to pass promptly without the employees' awareness (Shekari, 2015). In general, engaged employee is characterized by high levels of energy, resilience, and enthusiastic involvement in their work.

As job engagement is conceptualized as the full utilization of the employees' physical, cognitive, and emotional state (Kahn, 1990), engaged academic staff can provide a competitive advantage to the HEIs in terms of better lecturer performance, improved research output and greater organizational commitment (Agbionu et al., 2018). Job engagement is advantageous for both HEIs and academic staff because engaged employees are characterized by positive emotion, which makes people more sensitive to the opportunity at work, helpful, confident, and optimistic (Cropanzano & Wright, 2001). In Kahn's (1990) theory, engagement is a crucial mechanism in predicting job performance as its antecedent impacts job performance. Additionally, work engagement of academic staff has a significant link with job satisfaction and academics' loyalty (Ludviga & Kalvina, 2016). From an organizational perspective, engaged academic staff are willing to go an "extra mile" and improve the organizational performance and agility, as well as the health and well-being of the employees (Institute for Employment Studies, 2018). The prospective mutual rewards for both parties have urged management research devoting considerable attention to how employee engagement can be developed and maintained (Byrne & MacDonagh, 2017).

On the other hand, the individual work performance (IWP) of academic staff also plays a vital role in securing the sustainability of HEIs. IWP had been popularized by occupational practitioners, (Koopmans et al., 2014), occupational health experts (Carrer & Wolkoff, 2018), and work psychologists to study the antecedents and consequences of IWP (Mahmoud et al., 2020; Meneghel et al., 2016; Nguyen et al., 2019). In human resource management, IWP serves as an "ultimate dependent variable" which its assessment turned into capital issues (Ramos-Villagrasa et al., 2019) and is regarded as the barometer that determines whether an organization can be successful or fail (Colquitt et al., 2010). Campbell (1990) defined IWP as any behaviours or actions that are aligned with the goals of the organization. Besides that, IWP focuses on the behaviours under the employee's control. Thus, excluding behaviours that are restricted by the environment (Rotundo & Sackett, 2002). IWP consists of three-dimensions which are task performance, contextual performance, and counterproductive work behaviour (Koopmans et al., 2012). Task performance refers to the proficiency in performing the core substantive tasks central to his or her job (Campbell, 1990). It is also known as technical proficiency, in-role performance or job-specific task proficiency and is often described by work quality and quantity, job skills, and job knowledge (Koopmans et al., 2011). The job incumbents with excellent task performance are effective in performing the activities that contribute to the organization's technical core (Borman & Motowidlo, 1997). Contextual performance refers to any individual behaviour contributing to the organizational, social, and psychological environment in which the technical core must function

3

(Koopmans et al., 2011). Literature also describes contextual performance in terms of organizational citizenship behaviour (OCB), extra-role behaviour, innovative behaviour, employee retention, active learning behaviour (Motyka, 2018). In general, contextual performance refers to the behaviour that goes beyond the formally prescribed job description and job specification such as creativity, proactivity, and adaptability (Borman & Motowidlo, 1997). Counterproductive work behaviour refers (CWB) to any action that harms the well-being of the organization (Koopmans et al., 2014). Koopmans et al. (2011) summarized those other labels of CWB are absenteeism, off-task behaviour, and theft, being late to work, drug misuse and hazardous behaviour. CWB is defined as a type of negative and deviant employee behaviour with the intention of harming organizations and their members (Rana et al., 2019). The present study will interpret each dimension of IWP to measure the academic staff's performance. Academic literature has widely demonstrated the performance improvements accrued from increased job engagement. Nonetheless, Kim et al. (2012) suggested that the association between job engagement and individual work performance (IWP) requires more understanding to create performance improvement.

1.2 Overview of Higher Education Sector in Malaysia

The present study was propelled by one of the biggest current concerns worldwide which is the Covid-19 pandemic. Since 2015, there have been more than 70000 academic staff (Ainer et al., 2018) from 20 public universities, 111 private universities and university colleges, 402 private colleges, 34

polytechnics and 94 community colleges with an estimated number of 1.2 million students enrolled in these HEIs in Malaysia (Tapsir, 2016). In the education sector, academic staff in HEIs serves as a significant resource in achieving the vision and mission of the institutions and maintaining the student experience of studying in higher education (Rowley, 1996). During the pandemic, the movement control order (MCO) and conditional movement control order (CMCO) had completely dampened the standard norm of learning institution operation (Kamal et al., 2020). The literature showed that there are 1,198,530,172 learners in 186 countries have been impacted due to the closure of schools (UNESCO, 2020). The Malaysian government included school closure as part of the physical distancing policy to cut off the virus transmission and ease the burden on the health department system (Sia & Adamu, 2020). During the period of MCO, all classes in higher education institutions (HEI) were moved to online learning while partial physical reopening is allowed during CMCO.

Online learning method served as a protective mechanism, but it affected the job engagement of academic staff as their way and routine of working has been impacted tremendously (Mardiana, 2020). Pallof and Pratt (2001) suggested that the delivery method is more significant than content in determining the success of online learning. A survey conducted by Flynn and Noonan (2020) also revealed a significant drop in student engagement levels in the online learning method. The new teaching method left a challenge to lecturers in establishing and maintaining a lifeful connection with their students. The IWP of academic staff in HEI might be challenged in redesigning their teaching content and altering the delivery method to teach their student effectively during this pandemic (Kamal et al., 2020). The lecturer is required to take extra responsibility to bridge the distance in an online environment (Flynn & Noonan, 2020). The gap between job demand and job resources of the academic staff will lead to challenges and negative impacts on the IWP of the academic staff (Sia & Adamu, 2020).

1.3 Problem Statement

Job engagement serves as a significant predictor of IWP (Dajani, 2015; Kim et al., 2019; Rana et al., 2019; Rich et al., 2010). According to the report regarding the Malaysia workplace done by the Gallup Institute, only 17% of the workers can be identified as fully engaged in their job. While the rest 83% were either not engaged or actively disengaged (Gallup, 2017). The engagement levels vary by job type also showed that there are only 27% of educators are engaged employees. In the higher education context, Gallup (2016) examined the engagement of faculty members in every type of institution. Among more than 22500 faculty members, only 34% of faculty members are engaged in their job while the rest 66% are either not engaged or actively disengaged. In Malaysia, the low levels of job engagement can be reflected by the high turnover intention rate of academic staff (Lee, 2016) as engaged employee is much more likely to stay in the organizations (Gallup, 2017). The lack of engaged workers is a barrier to achieving a high-performing organization and there would be a "disengagement crisis" if the support is absent from employees to find their job meaningfulness. As IWP is essential

for employee performance and organizational success, the disengagement crisis can deteriorate the company's revenues and profitability indicators (Moore, 2014). The academic staff who are not engaged or actively disengaged will offer obstacles to individual achievement and success of HEI overall (Wasilowski, 2018).

The individual work performance of the employees had been questioned due to the impact of the pandemic. The Covid-19 Epidemic Employee Pulse Survey Report Malaysia (Lai, 2020) revealed that 77% of the employees reported a decline in productivity, and only 23% were able to maintain their productivity as usual. Among the employees with a higher workload during this pandemic, 56% of them also experienced a drop in productivity (Haroon, 2020). In particular, the performance of academic staff in HEIs might be compromised during the pandemic. Most of the courses and programmes had been rapidly changed from physical to online learning mode (Gewin, 2020) to act as a safety mechanism to prevent virus infection but it is an unfamiliar and challenging environment which requires academic staff to upskill and reskill for successful adaptation and transition (Sia & Adamu, 2020). The previous studies suggested that the academic staff working in a pandemic is prone to mental stress (Kamarudin, 2020), physical health issues (Forster, 2020) and technical issues (Sia & Adamu, 2020) thus showing that the performance of academic staff could be problematic and should be given sufficient attention. The present study will address the performance issues of academic staff to ensure the welfare of the instructors and the learners.

One of the rationales of the present study to focus on HEI academics stems from lacking engagement research has been done internationally amongst HEI compared to primary and secondary educational levels (Byrne & MacDonagh, 2017). Although, the past studies showed a relatively stable relationship between job engagement and IWP, there still exists a mixed outcome (Reijseger et al., 2017; Tims et al., 2015; Zhong et al., 2016) regarding the relationship between the dimensions of job engagement and IWP that require in-depth study (Kim et al., 2012). The past studies frequently examined the relationship between job engagement and IWP without looking into the association between the dimensions of both variables and instead only examined the dimension of either job engagement or IWP (Dajani, 2015; Gorgievski et al., 2010; Reijseger et al., 2017; Shantz et al., 2016; Zhong et al., 2016). It is important to look into their dimensions as it would be useful to examine, on a relative basis, which dimensions of job engagement may acts as more powerful predictor in different dimensions of IWP. Thus, the present study explored the extent to which job engagement dimensions are more influential to different types of IWP by examining their unique individual contribution among academic staff instead of an overall evaluation.

Regarding the literature gap, the past researchers revealed that most of the past studies examining the relationship between job engagement and IWP overlooked the Malaysian samples (Kim et al., 2012). The past studies are mostly conducted in the United States (Halbesleben & Wheeler, 2008), United Kingdom (Shantz et al., 2013), Netherlands (Gorgievski et al., 2010), Australia (Kirk-Brown & Dijik, 2011), Pakistan (Bilal et al., 2019), Dutch (Bakker & Demerouti, 2009), Italy (Balducci et al., 2011), Irish (Chugtai & Buckley, 2011), China (Zhong et al., 2015) and Romania (Karatepe, 2013). Since Malaysia context can be very distinct from other countries in terms of cultural, political, historical and economic aspects, study conducted among local samples is necessary to reflect the realistic circumstance happening in Malaysia instead of tolerating for potential bias when learning from foreign studies.

1.4 Significance of the Study

The present study aimed to investigate the role of job engagement on IWP from a multidimensional perspective among the academic staff. HEIs require engaged educators that will be able to render the best performance that will improve the students' learning experience. The outcome of the study can provide potential implications for the practice of HEIs in Malaysia. As the study will examine all the three dimensions of job engagement and IWP, the outcome would be useful in developing specific guidelines for improving a certain type of IWP by emphasizing its most powerful engagement-predictors. Thus, this study contributes to the organizational and employee performance as the results indicates what changes can be emphasized by the HEIs are mostly likely to bring improvement of IWP among their academicians through creating engagement-evoking working condition during the pandemic. The HEIs will acknowledge this issue related to the importance of academician engagement and further foster their emotional, cognitive, and behavioural components that prominently affects the academic staff's IWP.

Besides, the outcomes of the present study supplement the existing research surrounding the job engagement and IWP relationship by exploring their dimensional linkage. The relationship between job engagement and IWP can be explored by looking into the unique contribution of the engagement dimension to the IWP dimensions. The different prediction pathway of individual engagement dimensions and the comparison among their prediction power to the specific types of IWP can serve as a reference for future researcher to be more perspectival in gaining a better understanding of the exact nature of such prediction. This study can supplement this research gap by providing evidence of the association between the dimensions of job engagement and IWP among academic staff in HEIs.

As a final point, acquiring results from the Malaysian sample is equally important to contribute to the existing literature by expanding our understanding of the topic of job engagement and work performance in Malaysia, specifically among academicians in higher education. Most of the past studies examined the relationship between the dimensions of job engagement and IWP among non-academicians. Besides, there is a lack of understanding of the association between job engagement and IWP in the local context. For this reason, it is vitally important to obtain relatively comprehensive knowledge among Malaysian to contribute to the welfare of academicians in this context, excluding any possible deviation in implication.

1.5 Research Objectives

The overarching objective is to study the job engagement of academic staff as a possible predictor of individual work performance. To be precise, the present study would identify the relationship between the dimensions of job engagement (vigour, dedication and absorption) and individual work performance (task performance, contextual performance and counterproductive work behaviour) among academic staff in Malaysia HEIs.

1.6 Research Questions

The research questions are:

- 1. Is there any significant positive association between job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) and task performance among academic staff in Malaysia?
- 2. Is there any significant positive association between job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) and contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia?
- 3. Is there any significant negative association between job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) and counterproductive work behaviour among academic staff in Malaysia?
- 4. Does job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) predict task performance among academic staff in Malaysia?
- 5. Does job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) predict contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia?

6. Does job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) predict counterproductive work behaviour among academic staff in Malaysia?

1.7 Hypotheses

The hypotheses of this study are:

H₁: There is a significant positive association between vigour and task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₂: There is a significant positive association between vigour and contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₃: There is a significant negative association between vigour and counterproductive work behaviour performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₄: There is a significant positive association between dedication and task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₅: There is a significant positive association between dedication and contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₆: There is a significant negative association between dedication and counterproductive work behaviour performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₇: There is a significant positive association between absorption and task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₈: There is a significant positive association between absorption and contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₉: There is a significant negative association between absorption and counterproductive work behaviour performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₁₀: Job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) can predict task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₁₁: Job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) can predict contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

H₁₂: Job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) can predict counterproductive work behaviour among academic staff in Malaysia.

1.8 Conceptual Definition and Operational Definition

Vigour, Dedication, and Absorption

Vigour refers to the self-willingness to work, motivation to deal with challenges, energy in working and mental resilience (Chugtai & Buckley, 2011; Rana et al., 2019). Dedication can be defined as the sense of job significance, inspiration, involvement, enthusiasm toward achieving goals (Al-dalahmeh et al., 2018; Rana et al., 2019). Absorption consists of a high level of concentration on the job and fully engrossed in performing the task without being conscious of time passage (Chugtai & Buckley, 2011; Kartal, 2018).

Job engagement was assessed by adopting the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale-9 (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). The questionnaire comprised of 9 items from three facets which are vigour, dedication, and absorption to examine the dimensions of job engagement. The present study will obtain scores from three facets and measure the dimensions of job engagement. The higher the dimensional score represents the more vigorous, dedicated, and absorptive the employees are.

Task Performance, Contextual Performance, and Counterproductive Work Behaviour

Task performance refers to the proficiency to perform the core substantive tasks central to his or her job (Campbell, 1990). It is also defined as how well the employees perform their prescribed job requirements effectively (Koopmans et al., 2011). Contextual performance refers to any individual behaviour that contributes to the organizational, social, and psychological environment in which the technical core must function (Koopmans et al., 2011). In general, contextual performance refers to whether the employee takes the "extra-mile" for the good of other workers and organizations (Borman & Motowidlo, 1997). On the other hand, counterproductive work behaviour (CWB) refers to any action that harms the well-being of the organization and its members (Koopmans et al., 2014). CWB is defined as a type of negative and deviant employee behaviour with the intention of harming organizations and their member (Rana et al., 2019).

Individual work performance was measured using 18 items version of the Individual Work Performance Questionnaire (IWPQ: Koopmans et al., 2014). The questionnaire measures IWP based on three dimensions which are task performance, contextual performance, and counterproductive work behaviour in which these scores can be examined independently. The higher scores indicate a higher frequency of task performance, contextual performance and CWB.

CHAPTER 2.0

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Demographic Variable

Past studies suggested that demographic variables such as age, gender, educational level and marital status will affect the job performance of employees (Hassan & Ogunkoya, 2014; Kalia & Bhardwaj, 2019; Thakur, 2015; Ugwu, 2017). Thus, the present study examined the control effect of the age, gender, educational level, and marital status of the academic staff on their task performance, contextual performance and CWB.

2.2 Vigour and Task Performance

Rana et al. (2019) examined the relationship between work engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) on employee work performance. An online survey was administered to a homogenous sampling of a company from the IT field. There were 134 respondents from Delhi, India which were recruited to participate in the study. The IWPQ developed by Koopmans et al. (2012) and UWES-9 scale (Shaufeli & Bakker, 2003) was adopted to gather data. The results showed that vigour has the highest positive and significant correlation with task performance followed by dedication and adsorption. In addition, vigour was revealed to be a significant predictor of the IWP of the respondents.

Halbesleben and Wheeler (2008) examined the relationship between work engagement and in-role performance in the United States. 587 employees from a wide variety of industries and occupations participated in the study. Data was gathered from the employees, their supervisors and co-workers and was analysed using confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). The results showed that vigour, dedication, and absorption had significant semi-partial correlations with self-rated, supervisor-rated and co-worker-rated in-role performance. The researchers indicated that work engagement had a relatively small effect on performance.

Gorgievski (2010) and his colleagues investigated the association between work engagement and job performance among employees and self-employed workers in the Netherlands. 1900 employees and 262 self-employed workers responded to the questionnaire published in the psychology magazine and their data was analysed by SEM. The job engagement measured was measured using UWES-9, while job performance was assessed in terms of task performance and contextual performance. The results revealed that job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) was positively related to task performance for both groups of employees. All data were collected using the self-report method.

2.3 Vigour and Contextual Performance

Bakker and Demerouti (2009) collected data from 525 Dutch workers to examine the relationship between men's engagement and job performance and examine the moderating effect of empathy on the crossover effect of women's work engagement on men's engagement. Work engagement was measured using two portions of the UWES-17 scale which are vigour and dedication whereas job performance was described by in-role and extra-role performance developed by Goodman and Svyantek (1999). The study revealed that men's vigour was positively related to extra-role performance (contextual performance) but not in-role performance (task performance). Besides, the study supported that work engagement crosses over between partners which strengthens the belief that positive experience may cross over as well as negative feelings.

Little et al. (2011) tested the impact of attachment styles on organizational citizenship behaviour (OCB) and workplace deviance behaviour through vigour at work. The recruited sample consisted of 495 full-time employees who are repair generalists in a building facilities and maintenance organization. 406 completed self-report responses, including 331 employees and 75 immediate supervisors who provided ratings of OCB and CWB. Vigour was assessed using hantzom-Melamed Vigor Measure (Shirom, 2004), whereas the OCB was measured using Williams and Anderson's (1991) OCB-I and OCB-O measure. The results showed a stronger correlation between vigour and OCB-I, followed by CWB and OCB-O. This indicated that vigorous employees are more likely to help others in the company (OCB-I) and improve the functioning of the company (OCB-O), which are similar to the concept of contextual performance.

18

The past study investigated the relationship between perceived organizational support for strength used (POSSU), work engagement and contextual performance (Meyers et al., 2019). A snowball sampling method was used, and 753 responses were collected through personal networks and social media. The UWES-9 developed by Scahufeli and Bakker (2003) and the contextual performance subscale of IWPQ developed by Koopmans et al. (2014) was utilized to measure job engagement and contextual performance. The results found that work engagement and contextual performance are positively correlated. Meyers et al. (2019) suggested that employees who feel more vigorous are more likely to take on activities that are not prescribed by their job position.

2.4 Vigour and Counterproductive Work Behaviour

Bilal et al. (2019) assessed the impact of employee engagement on counterproductive work behaviour among academic staff. The data was composed of academic staff of private universities in Pakistan. A total of 199 respondents were recruited using a simple random sampling method and responded to the self-administered questionnaire. The instruments were UWES-17 adopted from Schaufeli and Bakker (2003) and the CWB questionnaire from Robinson et al., (1998). The study provided sufficient evidence for the correlation between employee engagement (vigour, dedication, and absorption) and CWB and concluded a negative association between these two variables. The researchers suggested that universities shall emphasize more on job engagement to reduce CWB of academic staff.

19

The previous finding is aligned with what Rana et al. (2019) found among IT employees in India. They examined the relationship between the dimensions of job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) and individual work performance (task performance, contextual performance, CWB). 134 respondents were recruited to respond to the internet-based questionnaire. The IWPQ developed by Koopmans et al. (2012) and the UWES-9 scale (Shaufeli & Bakker, 2003) was used to gather data. The results showed that vigour serves as the second strongest predictor of CWB among the dimension of job engagement. In addition, vigour was revealed to be a significant predictor of the IWP of the respondents.

The master dissertation presented by Fourie (2013) provided a mixed outcome regarding the relationship between vigour and CWB compared to the other past studies. He examined the impact of workplace engagement on employee burnout and CWB among employees of South African commercial banks. 300 participants were recruited to answer a self-complied questionnaire, including team leaders, team managers, and team members. The UWES and CWB Inventory were used to assess the characteristics of the bank employees. The results revealed that vigour had a significant negative relationship with burnout, but only a non-significant, weak relationship was found with CWB.

2.5 Dedication and Task Performance

Van Scotter (1994) examined the usefulness of task performance, job dedication and interpersonal facilitation as elements of overall performance. There were two groups of Air Force mechanics recruited to conduct the internal consistency test and structural equation analyses respectively. A total of 1136 subjects, with 82.2% of white males, voluntarily completed the self-reported questionnaire. The job dedication was measured in terms of conscientiousness, goal orientation, general self-esteem, and protestant work ethic, while task performance was measured in experience, ability and job knowledge. The results suggested that task performance and interpersonal facilitation are positively associated with overall performance. In addition, job dedication is more strongly correlated with task performance than overall performance.

Bakker and Demerouti (2009) studied the relationship between men's engagement and the colleague ratings of their job performance. 175 men and 175 colleagues of male participants in different occupational fields served as the source of information in the study. Two subscales of UWES-17 (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003) which are vigour and dedication are used to assess men's job engagement. The performance questionnaire developed by Goodman and Svyantek (1999) was used to measure in-role and extra-role performance. Moderated structural equation modelling (MSEM) result revealed that men's engagement, especially their dedication, was positively associated with in-role performance slightly higher than extra-role performance.

21

Roseline and Konya (2019) investigated the relationship between employee dedication and employee performance among marine transport operators. 205 operators from 7 marine terminals in Nigeria were recruited to generate the data of the study. The employee performance was characterized by productivity, growth, and survival. Productivity refers to the ratio between the output and input of individual employees (Roseline & Kenya, 2019), growth and survival refer to the organizational ability to improve their financial performance and continue to live or exist despite threats and challenges (Aldrich, 2001). The analysis of Pearson's Product Moment Correlation Coefficient supported a strong relationship between employee dedication and all the productivity, growth, and survival. The researchers suggested that dedicated employees possessed higher intrinsic motivation, increased effort and were more productive.

2.6 Dedication and Contextual Performance

Van Scotter and Motowidlo (1996) assessed the roles of job dedication and interpersonal facilitation as separate facets of contextual performance among Air Force mechanics in the United States. In all, 1136 supervisors of the mechanics completed the self-reported questionnaire that measures the interested variables of the mechanics. Job dedication of the mechanics was rated based on their willingness to work extra, challenges, attentiveness, initiation, self-control, persistence, and enthusiasm. The performance was rated according to the standard of performance, compared with others of the same rank and contribution to the unit. The results revealed that job dedication is too
strongly associated with task performance, hence the researchers suggested that job dedication is deserved to be defined as the second facet of contextual performance.

Muldoon et al. (2017) conducted a study to explore the job dedication role regarding organizational citizenship behaviour (OCB). There are 190 complete, eligible, paired supervisor-subordinate dyads from the United States collected and used to explore the hypotheses. Job dedication was measured using the items developed by Van Scotter and Motowidlo (1996) and OCB was rated by supervisors using the questionnaire of Williams and Anderson (1991) into a two-factor structure which are OCBO and OCBI. The results of hierarchical regression revealed that job dedication had a statistically significant positive relationship with both OCBI and OCBO. The finding supported the significant relationship between dedication and contextual performance proposed by the present study.

Tims et al. (2015) conducted a longitudinal study to examine whether job crafting, and work engagement led to higher levels of prospective work engagement and job performance. 1250 employees from chemical industries in The Netherlands were invited to complete the survey through the link received in their emails. The results showed that work engagement was not associated with OCB over time. In their study, work engagement was characterized by vigour, dedication, and absorption, and was measured using the UWES-9 scale.

The finding underscores the importance of dedication for employee proactive behaviours.

The present study posited that dedication is a motivational factor in pushing the employee to perform to their best as they usually possess higher enthusiasm and greater career goals. Although the mixed outcomes in previous studies may suggest that the motivational force does not apply in contextual performance but instead only task performance, the present study withholds the hypothesis that there is a positive linkage between dedication and contextual performance. The rationale behind this is that dedication also brings a sense of identity and belongingness to the academic staff so that they are more likely to attach themselves to their respective HEIs or faculty, thus motivating them to be more concerned and act for its well-being.

2.7 Dedication and Counterproductive Work Behaviour

Fourie (2013) examined the relationship between the dimension of job engagement and CWB and employee burnout among employees from banks located in Pretoria, South Africa. The workers from three different employment levels which are team members, team leader and team manager received the survey distributed by the Head of Human Resource. The UWES-17 and CWB Checklist (CWB-C; Spector & Fox, 2002) were used to assess the dimensions of job engagement and CWB of the bank employees. A negative and significant correlation was revealed between the CWB dimensions (abuse, production, withdrawal, theft) and dedication but not with vigour and absorption. Furthermore, job engagement and CWB are not significantly associated.

The negative relationship between dedication and CWB is supported by Balducci et al. (2011). Their study investigated the role of job-related affect in the association between the job demands-resource model and CWB among employees of a public administration agency in central Italy. A total of 818 employees from 13 departments completed the anonymous, structured questionnaire during working hours. The UWES-9 was adopted to assess employee engagement, whereas CBW-C (Spector et al., 2006) was taken to evaluate abuse or hostility CWB. The results suggested a significant negative relationship between work engagement and hostility CWB which is aligned with the hypotheses of the present study. Further analysis revealed that dedication contributed the most to the relationship between work engagement and CWB compared to vigour and absorption.

Reijseger et al. (2017) investigated the association between work engagement and multiple dimensions of job performance and the mediating role of openmindedness. The source of information was 305 employees across two different samples (a homogenous and a heterogeneous sample) in the Netherlands who completed the online survey. The findings were crossvalidated and revealed that dedication is the most contributing dimension of work engagement as aligned with Balducci et al. (2011). However, the researchers are forced to be inconclusive due to the inconsistent findings regarding the relationship between work engagement and CWB. The work engagement was found to be not associated with CWB.

Previous studies showed mixed outcomes on the relationship between dedication and CWB. As dedication promotes the sense of job identification and involvement which makes academic staff more proud of and enthusiastic in working for their HEIs, CWB is predicted to be less likely to prevent harm to their beloved organization. Thus, the researcher remained a stance of assuming a significant negative relationship between dedication and CWB.

2.8 Absorption and Task Performance

Satavuthi and Chaipoopirutana (2014) conducted a case study in Thailand to explore the factors contributing to in-role performance. Their study assessed job involvement, organizational commitment, job satisfaction, core selfevaluation, in-role performance among 347 Thailand employees. Job involvement in the study was defined as the degree of employee absorption at work and the job identification of employees. The results of Pearson's Correlation Coefficient showed that job involvement possessed a moderate and positive relationship with in-role performance and a weak and positive relationship with extra-role performance. The researchers suggested that the more absorbed the employees at work, the better their in-role performance will be. Chu and Lee (2012) explored the impact of flow experience on job performance among 376 elementary school teachers (68% of women) in Taiwan. They defined flow experience as characterized by absorption, involvement and not being aware of the passage of time, which coincided with the absorption in UWES (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). The job performance of the teachers was measured in two dimensions: task performance and contextual performance. The results indicated that the frequency of flow experience of the teachers creates a positive and significant effect on task performance and contextual performance. This aligned with Demerouti (2006) that the teachers who were frequently immersed and enjoyed their job will receive favourable performance.

In 2019, Rana and his colleagues investigated the relationship between work engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) on IWP (task performance, contextual performance and CWB). A total of 134 participants from the IT sector in India provided their valid responses via an online questionnaire. The questionnaire consisted of IWPQ developed by Koopmans et al. (2012) and the UWES-9 scale developed by Shaufeli and Bakker (2003) to assess employee engagement and job performance. The results showed that all three dimensions of job engagement were statistically significant and positively associated with the three dimensions of IWP. In addition, absorption was revealed to have the weakest positive relationship with task performance compared to vigour and dedication.

2.9 Absorption and Contextual Performance

Karatepe (2013) tested a research model examining the mediation of work engagement in the relationship between high-performance work practices (HPWPs) and hotel employee performance. The research samples were 110 full-time frontline hotel employees and their managers in Romania. These employees from five hotels worked closely with customers in one of the most famous tourist destinations. The UWES-9 was completed by the employees to assess their job engagement in three dimensions (vigour, dedication, and absorption) while the employees' extra-role customer service was rated by their managers using the five items from Bettencourt and Brown (1997). The results showed that absorption was positively and significantly related to both job performance and extra-role customer service. Furthermore, the correlation coefficients showed that absorption positively correlated stronger with extrarole customer service than job performance. The researchers suggested that engaged employees will go the extra-mile in dealing with customers' needs and problems.

Bilal et al. (2019) examined the relationship between employee engagement and the contextual performance of teaching faculty of private universities. Their study was conducted among 231 lecturers, assistant professors, associate professors, and professors from private sector universities in Pakistan. The findings of correlations analysis showed that job engagement had a relatively strong positive relationship with contextual performance. The regression analysis also supported that employee engagement significantly predict contextual performance. Employee engagement was characterized by vigour, dedication and absorption and measured using UWES-17 (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). The findings reflected that absorption plays a role in predicting contextual performance among academic staff.

Coffeng et al. (2014) studied the effectiveness of a combined social and physical environmental intervention on presenteeism, absenteeism, work performance and work engagement. A total of 1182 Netherlands employees of a financial service provider were invited to participate in the study. Two outcome measures were UWES-17 (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003) and IWPQ (Koopmans et al, 2012) to assess the employees' task performance, contextual performance, CWB, vigour, dedication, and absorption. The outcome of the 6and 12-months follow-up period showed no significant effects of the intervention on absorption, while a significantly lower contextual performance was found. The results indicated that the relationship between absorption and contextual performance might be inconclusive compared with other studies.

2.10 Absorption and Counterproductive Work Behaviour

Shantz et al. (2013) explored the mediating role of employee engagement in the relationship between job design and task performance, OCB, and deviant behaviours. The research data were obtained from 283 employees and 131 of their supervisors in a consultancy and construction firm in the United Kingdom through an online questionnaire. Employee engagement was measured using UWES-9 (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003) while the deviant behaviour was measured with the deviance scale of Bennett and Robinson (2000). The results supported the negative relationship between employee engagement and deviant work behaviour. The researchers agreed that engaged employees with higher vigour, dedication and absorption are more like to possess more job and personal resources, and eventually reduce the deviant performance which threatens the well-being of an organization.

In 2013, Fourie published his master dissertation findings regarding the relationship between the subsets of job engagement and the subsets of CWB. A non-probability sampling method was applied to collect responses from 300 bank employees in South Africa. The employees were recruited from three different employment levels which are team member, team leader and team manager. The UWES-17 (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003) and CWB-C (Spector & Fox, 2002) were used to assess the job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) and CWB (abuse, production, withdrawal, theft) of the bank employees. The outcome of intercorrelations between the selected dimensions demonstrated a non-significant relationship between absorption and vigour and the dimensions of CWB. Only dedication possessed a significant negative relationship with CWB.

The previous finding is aligned with Rana et al. (2019) who examined the intercorrelations between the dimensions of job engagement and IWP among

134 IT employees in India. The results support that absorption, vigour and dedication possess a significant relationship with CWB. The significant relationship between absorption and CWB is congruent with what other researchers suggested in their study. Rana's study also showed that absorption serves as the strongest predictor of CWB compared to vigour and dedication. Bilal et al. (2019) conducted a cross-sectional study among academic staff in Pakistan to investigate the relationship between job engagement and CWB. The results showed that job engagement, which is characterized by vigour, dedication, and absorption, is strongly and negatively related to CWB.

2.11 Research Gap

Most of the previous studies revealed that the dimensions of job engagement could increase the likelihood of task performance and contextual performance while decreasing the likelihood of CWB among the employee in different field (e.g., IT, maintenance, education, finance, military, tourism, construction) and different countries (e.g., Italy, South Africa, India, Romania, Taiwan, Thailand, the United States) (Balducci et al., 2011; Chu & Lee, 2012; Fourine, 2013; Muldoon et al., 2017; Rana et al., 2019; Satavuthi & Chaipoopirutana, 2014; Van Scotter & Motowidlo, 1996). However, mixed outcomes were found that underscore the effect of job engagement on IWP. Besides, the strength of each engagement dimensions was found to be in different ranking in predicting a specific dimension of IWP. This implied that each of the engagement dimensions may contribute uniquely to the individual type of IWP. Hence, the present study would like to explore the relationship between dimensions of job engagement and IWP to examine the exact nature of dimensional influences. In addition, there are limited studies with the similar topic conducted among academic staff. Even some were conducted in education field, not many of them found conducted in higher education settings. Other than the different chosen sample, the literature is also lack of updated similar researches within 5 years. The present study would like to fill up the knowledge gap.

2.12 Theoretical Framework

Kahn's (1990) job engagement theory proposed that engaged employees can perform their roles to the fullest potential. Job engagement is initially described by Kahn (1990) as the individual immersing full self in an active and complete work role performance by investing personal resources into their performance. The engaged employees attach themselves to the organization by employing themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during role performance. Kahn (1992) suggested three psychological antecedents that cause an individual to engage or disengage, including meaningfulness, safety, and availability. His later work stated that the primacy of psychological safety depends on the presence of healthy interpersonal relationships at the workplace which is crucial for the sustainment of job engagement (Kahn, 2007).

Rich et al. (2010) theorized a strong theoretical reason to believe that Kahn's engagement is linked to job performance. Generally, a highly engaged employee not only focuses on physical effort but is also cognitively vigilant

and emotionally connected. These characteristics are conceptually similar to vigour, dedication and absorption in the job engagement dimensions. It is because the physical energy helps the role holders accomplish their organization's behavioural expectation (Katz & Kahn, 1978). Besides, the cognitive energy promotes more vigilant and attentive behaviour, so the employees are more willing to step outside the bounds of their prescribed roles (Rich, 2010). Finally, the emotional energy promotes the employees' sense of connection to the co-workers and organization. It may nurture a mental frame which encourages employees to perform a wider array of behaviour that could ultimately contribute to organizational well-being (Rich, 2010). This is aligned with Kahn (1990, 1992) that all the three energies foster active role performances through extra conscientious, innovative, involved and interpersonally collaborative. These role performances also can be related to task performance, contextual performance and CWB, thus supporting the study framework of the present study.

Lee and Huang (2019) did the longitudinal study examined Kahn's theory of job engagement. The results contributed to developing a dynamic process model of engagement by proving that job engagement can predict job performance in the long term. In Zhong et al. (2016), they suggested that inrole performance, organizational citizenship behaviour and intent to quit are the key outcomes of personal engagement proposed by Kahn (1990). In Kahn's engagement theory, self-employment, self-expression, and self-engrossment in the job role reflect a lower tendency of engaged employees to perform CWB (Bilal et al., 2019).

2.13 Conceptual Framework

In the present study, the dimensions of IWP (task performance, contextual performance and CWB) will be the dependent variables. The dimensions of job engagement (vigour, dedication, and absorption) will be the independent variables. The study is grounded in the job engagement theory (Kahn, 1992), which suggests that antecedents of job engagement can improve job performance (Lee & Huang, 2019). In addition, the past studies provided support for the association between job engagement and IWP (i.e., Kim et al., 2019).



Figure 2.1: Conceptual Framework for H₁ to H₉



Figure 2.2: Conceptual Framework for H₁₀ to H₁₂

CHAPTER 3.0

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Research Design

The objective of this study is to examine the association between the dimensions of job engagement and IWP among Malaysian academic staff. A cross-sectional research design was utilized in the present study as the study only collects data at one point in time. Cost-saving and time-efficiency (Setia, 2016) are the two motives of the cross-sectional research design being chosen in the present study. Besides, the present study is quantitative research and correlational study with the adoption of the online survey method to gather the data of the study. All the data and information were collected using a self-report questionnaire. Self-report can be conducted with a large sample size due to its data opulence and practicality (Paulhus & Vazire, 2009).

3.2 Sampling Method

The purposive sampling method, a non-probability method, was used to collect data from academic staff in HEIs. The present study targeted the samples that fulfilled the characteristics to result in a meaningful outcome by recruiting employees from a specific sector. Six universities, each located in each region (Northern, Central, Southern, East Coast, Sarawak, and Sabah) have been selected. The inclusion criteria of the HEIs depend on the availability of their staff directory online and a large number of respective academic staff (more than 250 academicians). Due to the selection criteria, purposive sampling method was used to ensure sufficient responses from all over Malaysia with effective and convenient means.

Ainer et al. (2018) concluded that the majority of the academic staff in Malaysia are from public universities (31877; 41.56%) and private universities (34750; 45.30%). Thus, the inclusion criterion of the target sample is to be a full-time academic staff from public and private universities in Malaysia. These sampling characteristics had been filtered as desirable to collect data from academic staff of both public and private universities settings who shares similar working experience. However, it is undeniable that these criteria lead to a limitation for the present study to only include public and private universities while overlooking the population from university colleges, colleges, accredited training centres, language centres, etc. The exclusion criteria are part-time lecturers and non-academic staff. It is because these respondents might experience different job nature and job demands with full-time academic staff, thus setting back the validity of the present study. Data has been collected using an online questionnaire generated using Qualtrics through email distribution.

3.3 Sample Size

The desired participants of this research include the full-time academician currently working in private and public universities. Considering large effect size ($f^2 = .35$; Kim, 2017), 95% confidence level ($\alpha = .05$), statistical power of .95 ($1 - \beta = .05$) with 3 predictors, the optimal sample size was calculated using the G*Power sample size calculator (Faul et al., 2007), which recommended a sample size of 54. The present study proposed a sample size of 100 to avoid missing data or incomplete questionnaire.

3.4 Location

The study focused on the academic staff of HEIs in Malaysia. One university from of the six regions (Northern Region, Central Region, each Southern Region, East Coast, Sabah, and Sarawak) has been selected by using purposive sampling to gather representative data. The data was collected among academic staff from three public and three private universities. The purpose of such selection was to ensure the representativeness of the collected responses from public and private HEIs across Malaysia. The inclusion criteria of university selection are the availability of the staff directory and the large number of academic staff to collect sufficient samples. The public universities selected were Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM) in the northern region, Universiti Malaysia Pahang (UMP) in the East Coast, and Universiti Malaysia Sabah (UMS) in Sabah. The private universities selected were University College Sedaya International (UCSI), Kuala Lumpur campus in the central region, Multimedia University (MMU), Johor campus in the southern region and Swinburne University in Sarawak. The researcher reached the potential sample by distributing a total number of 3225 online survey through their respective university emails. The potential respondents' email addresses were obtained from their respective HEI websites.

3.5 Demographic Information

In the beginning, there were 158 data collected through Qualtrics via emails. However, there were 29 responses found to be incomplete and 5 responses found to be outliers. Thus, the final data set consisted of 124 respondents aged between 25 to 73 (M = 42.16, SD = 7.95). Among all the samples, there were 60.5% of female participants and 39.5% of male participants. Majority of the academic staff which are doctoral degree holders (70.0 %) followed by master's degree holders (28.2 %) and bachelor's degree holders (4.8 %). In addition, the majority of the respondents were currently married (70.2 %), followed by single (21.0 %), divorced (5.6 %) and in a relationship (3.2 %). Table 3.1 below summarizes the demographic information of the respondents.

Table 3.1

						<u> </u>
Baseline						
characteristics	n	%	М	SD	Min	Max
Gender						
Male	49	39.5				
Female	75	60.5				
Age			42.16	7.95	25	73
Education Level						
Bachelor	6	4.8				

Demographic Information of Respondents (N = 124)

35	28.2	
83	70.0	
60	48.4	
47	37.9	
6	4.8	
11	8.9	
67	54.0	
31	25.0	
18	14.6	
2	1.6	
6	4.8	
26	21.0	
4	3.2	
87	70.2	
7	5.6	
	83 60 47 6 11 67 31 18 2 6 26 4 87	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Note. n = number of cases; % = percentage; M = mean; SD = standard deviation; Min = minimum value; Max = maximum value.

3.6 Procedures

The self-administrative questionnaire has been generated using Qualtrics, an online survey platform. Prior to the questionnaire distribution, ethical clearance was obtained from the UTAR Scientific and Ethical Research Committee [Ref: U/SERC/81/2021] (Appendix A). The finalized questionnaire included informed consent with a brief explanation about the aims, hypotheses, and benefits of the study. The participants were briefed about their participation rights, confidentiality, and their rights to withdraw from the study if they feel uncomfortable. The informed consent requested for permission and agreement of participants to be voluntarily involved in the present study.

A pilot study has been conducted before the actual study to detect unforeseeable difficulties in conducting study protocol, recruiting subjects, using the instruments, and analysing data (Hassan et al., 2006). The pilot study is also effective in identifying flaws in instruments by ensuring the reliability of the instruments chosen. For the present study, pilot study provided an opportunity to demonstrate the data collection procedure and to test for the scale reliability of the instruments. A sufficient number of 21 respondents (Birkett & Day, 1994) were recruited from Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman (UTAR) and responded to the survey question through an online method. The internal consistency of the instruments was evaluated by analysing whether the Cronbach alpha value is more than 0.7 (George & Mallery, 2003). The Cronbach alpha value of more than 0.7 indicates the strong reliability of the instruments. After the ethical clearance approval and pilot study, the data collection for the actual study started by selecting universities that aligned with the selection criteria from each region. It is followed by sending the finalized questionnaire attached to an invitation email. Once it reached the targeted sample size, the study proceeded to data analysis.

3.7 Instruments

Demographic Information

The first section of the questionnaire collected demographic information from the participants. The participants were asked about their sex, age, ethnicity, religion, education level, relationship status, occupation, and income.

Utrecht Work Engagement Scale

The present study adopted the 9-item Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES-9) to assess the employee's job engagement (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). There are three dimensions of job engagement which are vigour, dedication, and absorption. Each dimension consists of 3 items respectively with a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (never) to 6 (always). The items are all positively worded; a higher sum of the scores indicates a higher job engagement. The previous study demonstrated that the coefficient alpha was .84, .89 and .79 for vigour, dedication and absorption, respectively, indicating strong reliability (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). The UWES-9 possesses good internal consistencies as well as UWES-15 and UWES-17, and it largely exceeds the accepted criterion of $\propto \geq .70$ (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). The UWES-9 was reported to possess strong construct validity (Seppala et al., 2020), factorial validity (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003) and cross-national validity among samples from different countries such as Portugal (Sinval et al., 2018), Hong Kong (Klassen et al., 2012), Israel (Littman-Ovadia & Balducci, 2013), Australia (Schaufeli et al., 2006), Belgium (Schaufeli et al., 2017), China (Fong & Ho, 2015), South Africa (Storm & Rothman, 2003), Germany (Ulusoy et al., 2016) and Malaysia (Yew et al., 2017).

Individual Work Performance Questionnaire (IWPQ)

The Individual work performance Questionnaire (IWPQ) revised by Koopmans et al. (2014) was used to measure individual work performance. IWPQ consists of 18 items to measure IWP in three dimensions which are task performance (TP), contextual performance (CP) and counterproductive work behaviour (CWB). Each item was scored using a 5-point Likert scale from 0 to 4. The larger the point, the higher frequency the respondents behave in the way stated as the items. The dimensions of IWPQ possess a high construct validity and internal consistency with a person separation index of .81, .85 and .74 respectively (Koopmans et al., 2014). Its validity and reliability were supported by past studies across various countries such as the Netherlands (Koopmans et al., 2014), United States (Koopmans et al., 2015), Argentina (Gabini & Salessi, 2016), Indonesia (Widyastuti & Hidayat, 2018) and Malaysia (Muda et al., 2014; Nuruzzakiyah et al., 2020).

3.8 Data Analysis

SPSS version 23 was used to run the statistical analysis in the present study. After collecting the data, the descriptive analysis was executed to organize the demographic information of the participants, such as gender, age, and income. Pearson's Product-Moment Correlation (PPMC) and Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression (HMLR) were used to examine the association between the dimensions of job engagement and IWP.

CHAPTER 4.0

RESULT

4.1 Reliability

A pilot study was conducted before actual data collection, to detect any possible issues that arise with the method of data collection method as well as to test the reliability of the instruments used. A total of 21 respondents were recruited for the pilot study. The results of the reliability test on Table 4.1 supported that the instruments chosen in the pilot study posed Cronbach alphas ranging from .82 to .93, which is within the acceptable range of above .70 according to George & Mallery (2003).

Since the pilot study supported the reliability of the instrument used, all instruments have remained in the actual study. The online survey questionnaires generated using Qualtrics were distributed to academic staff in universities via their academic emails to reach greater responses. There were 124 responses used for further analysis. Besides, the reliability ranging from .83 to .92 indicated acceptable reliability (refer to Table 4.1).

4.2 Normality Assumptions

The present study utilized various normality tests including skewness, kurtosis, histogram, Q-Q plot and boxplot to test each dimension of the variables. The normality test provides evidence in determining whether the data collected is accurately described by the mean so that further data analysis can be carried out (Gupta et al., 2019).

Skewness and Kurtosis

Skewness and kurtosis were used to examine whether the normality assumption is not violated. Gravetter and Wallnau (2014) suggested that the acceptable range of skewness and kurtosis should be within ± 2.00 . Table 4.1 showed that the skewness of each dimension of job engagement and IWP were acceptable. Besides, the kurtosis value of each dimension was found to be located within the acceptable range of ± 2.00 . As all variables did not fall beyond the range of ± 2.00 , the normality assumption is supported.

Histogram, Q-Q plot and Boxplot

Histograms were used to demonstrate the visual estimation of the distribution in the current study. According to appendix E, the histogram showed a bellshaped curve indicating that the value of each score is normally distributed. The Q-Q plots of each distribution also revealed that the data points are almost a straight line indicating that the normality assumptions are met (Appendix E). Besides, the boxplot demonstrated 5 outliers in Task Performance and CWB. As the outliers may become an influential case, the present study decided to remove the outliers to enhance the accuracy of the results.

Table 4.1

Descriptive Information and Cronbach Alpha Values for Pilot Study n = (21)

and Actual Study (n = 124)

			Cronbach's α						
Scale	М	SD	Range	Pilot	Actual	Skewness	Kurtosis		
UWES-9	45.9	7.9	28-63	.94	.93	42	43		
total score									
VI	14.6	3.0	7-21	.82	.88	.04	11		
DE	15.9	2.9	8-21	.93	.90	08	35		
AB	15.4	3.1	8-21	.84	.87	.06	55		
IWP total	44.2	10.7	14-67	.88	.88	14	.23		
score									
TP	13.3	3.9	2-20	.91	.88	42	21		
CP	20.6	6.7	4-32	.91	.92	18	63		
CWB	10.0	3.3	5-22	.93	.83	.76	.95		

Note. VI = Vigour, DE = Dedication, AB = Absorption, TP = TaskPerformance, CP = Contextual Performance, CWB = Counterproductive Work Behaviour, M = Mean, SD = Standard Deviation.

4.3 Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) Assumptions

Multicollinearity

Multicollinearity assumption in MLR expects low inter-correlations between predictors by examining the tolerance level and Variance Inflation Factor (*VIF*). Shieh (2010) suggested that this assumption is only met when VIF values are less than 10 and tolerance values are more than .01. Table 4.2 revealed that the present study met the assumptions of multicollinearity.

Table 4.2

Collinearity Table of Tolerance and VIF

		Tolerance	VIF
1	(Constant)		
	Vigour	.29	3.45
	Dedication	.25	4.08
	Absorption	.58	1.74

Dependent Variable: Task Performance, Contextual Performance & CWB

Independent Error

The present study used Durbin Watson to examine the assumption of independent errors. Table 4.3 showed that the value of Durbin Watson fall within the acceptable range which is >1 and <3 indicating congruence to the assumption.

Table 4.3

Independent Error Test

	Model	Durbin-Watson
1		2.23
2		1.99
3		1.69

Note. Dependent Variable of Model 1= Task Performance, Dependent Variable of Model 2 = Contextual Performance, Dependent Variable of Model 3 = CWB.

Linearity, Residual Normality and Homoscedasticity

In addition, the assumptions of linearity of residual, residual normality and homoscedasticity were examined by generating the scatterplot of data distribution. Appendix F showed that the assumptions of residual normality, linearity and homoscedasticity were met.

4.4 Correlation

H_1 There is a significant positive association between vigour and task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

Pearson Product-Moment Correlation (PPMC) has been conducted to investigate the association between vigour and task performance. Table 4.4 showed that there was a statistically significant and positive relationship between vigour and task performance (r (124) = .56, p < .001). According to Guilford and Fruchter (1973), coefficient value less than \pm 0.19, 0.20-0.39, 0.40-0.69, 0.70-0.89 and 0.90-1.00 and respectively represent very weak, weak, moderate, strong and very strong correlation. The coefficient value of 0.56 indicates that the H₁was supported with a moderate correlation (Guilford & Fruchter, 1973).

H_2 There is a significant positive association between vigour and contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

A PPMC was run to determine the relationship between vigour and contextual performance among academic staff. As shown in Table 4.4, there was a statistically significant positive relationship between vigour and contextual performance, r (124) = .57, p < .001. Thus, H₂ was supported with a moderate correlation.

 H_3 There is a significant negative association between vigour and counterproductive work behaviour performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

A PPMC was conducted to study the association between vigour and CWB. Based on the results shown in Table 4.4, a significant negative relationship was found between vigour and CWB, r (124) = -.17, p = .028. Thus, H₃ was supported with a weak correlation.

H_4 There is a significant positive association between dedication and task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

PPMC was conducted to study the association between dedication and task performance. The results of PPMC indicated that there was a statistically significant positive moderate relationship between dedication and task performance (r (124) = .57, p < .001), indicating that the increase in employee dedication brings an increase in task performance. Hence, H₄ was supported.

H_5 There is a significant positive association between dedication and contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

PPMC was conducted to investigate the association between dedication and contextual performance. The results revealed that there was a significant moderate positive association (Guilford & Fruchter, 1973) between dedication and contextual performance among academic staff as shown in Table 4.4 (*r*

(124) = .58, p < .001). The result supported H₅ as the increase in dedication correlated with the increase in contextual performance.

 H_6 There is a significant negative association between dedication and counterproductive work behaviour performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

PPMC was run to determine the relationship between dedication and CWB. As revealed in Table 4.4, there was a significant negative relationship between vigour and CWB (r (124) = -.28, p = .001), indicating that a more dedicated academic staff is less likely to perform CWB. H₆ was supported with a weak correlation.

H_7 There is a significant positive association between absorption and task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

According to the outcome of PPMC in Table 4.4, there was a statistically significant relationship between absorption and task performance (r (124) = .48, p < .001). This indicates that the increase in absorption correlated with the increase in task performance. Therefore, H₇ was supported with a moderate correlation between absorption and task performance (Guilford & Fruchter, 1973).

H_8 There is a significant positive association between absorption and contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

The relationship between absorption and contextual performance among academic staff was examined by conducting PPMC. There was a statistically significant positive moderate relationship found between absorption and contextual performance, r(124) = .53, p = .001. Thus, H₈ was supported.

 H_9 There is a significant negative association between absorption and counterproductive work behaviour performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

PPMC was conducted to examine the relationship between absorption and CWB. Based on the results of PPMC (refer to Table 4.4), there was a statistically significant negative relationship between absorption and CWB (r (124) = -.25, p = .003) indicating that the increase in absorption correlated to the decrease in CWB. As H₉ was supported and the results found that absorption is weakly correlated with CWB.

Table 4.4

Descriptive Statistics and One-tailed Correlation for Study Variables (n=124)

Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Vigour	14.57	2.98	-					
2. Dedication	15.90	2.88	.83***	-				
3. Absorption	15.38	3.05	.56***	.64***	-			
4. TP	18.31	3.94	.56***	.57***	.48***	-		
5. CP	28.60	6.66	.57***	.58***	.53***	.72**	-	
6. CWB	9.96	3.31	17*	28**	25**	15	09	-

Note. TP= Task Performance, CP= Contextual Performance, CWB= Counterproductive Work Behaviour, M = Mean, SD = Standard Deviation. *** indicates p < .001, ** indicates p < .01, * indicates p < .05.

4.5 Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression

H_{10} Job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) can predict task performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

To examine the effect of demographic variables, a hierarchical multiple linear regression was conducted to evaluate the prediction of task performance from age, gender, educational level and marital status. For the first and second block analysis, the demographic variables were evaluated. The results of the second block hierarchical multiple linear regressions (Table 4.5) revealed the model to be statistically significant (p < .001). Besides, gender was found to be a significant predictor of task performance after considering the effect of job engagement in the second block ($\beta = .25$, p = .006).

HMLR was conducted to examine whether job engagement (vigour, dedication and absorption) can predict task performance. For the second block analysis, the predictor variables (vigour, dedication, absorption) were added to the analysis. The results of the second block revealed a model to be statistically significant (p < .001). Additionally, the R² change value of .34 associated with this regression model suggests that the addition of vigour, dedication and absorption to the first block accounts for 34% of the variation in task performance after controlling the effect of demographic variables. The effect size has been calculated as follows (Cohen, 1988):

Effect size :
$$f^2 = \frac{R^2}{1 - R^2}$$

Based on the formula, the effect size of job engagement for explaining task performance was .515 which can be considered as a large effect size (Cohen, 1988). As the R² change of the second block is significant, job engagement can predict task performance, thus indicating that H_{10} was supported. However, based on Table 4.5, task performance can only be predicted by dedication (β = .28, p = .047) and absorption (β = .19, p = .040) but not vigour (β = .19, p = .149).

Table 4.5

Hierarchical Regression Result for Task Performance

Variable	В	95% C	CI for <i>B</i>	SE B	β	R^2	ΔR^2
		LL	UL				
Step 1						.11	.11
Constant	7.11	2.92	12.50	2.42			
Age	0.02	0.48	-0.07	0.11	.05		
Gender		0.59	3.47	0.73	.25**		
(1=Female)	2.03**						
Master vs	1.70	-1.82	5.21	1.78	.20		
Bachelor (1=							
Master)							
PhD vs	0.32	-3.07	3.70	1.71	.04		
Bachelor							
(1=PhD)							
Relationship	0.15	-4.13	4.42	2.16	.01		
vs Single (1=							
Relationship)							
Married vs	0.95	-0.80	2.70	0.88	.11		
Single							
(1=Married)							
Divorced vs	0.71	-2.60	4.01	1.67	.42		
Single							
(1=Divorced)							
Step 2						.45	. <mark>34***</mark>
Constant	-4.79	-9.75	0.17	2.51			
Age	-0.01	-0.08	0.07	0.04	01		
Gender		0.66	2.98	0.59	.23**		
	1.82**						
Master vs	2.44	-0.44	5.31	1.45	.28		
Bachelor							
PhD vs	1.08	-1.70	3.85	1.40	.13		

Bachelor						
Relationship	0.99	-2.43	4.40	1.72	.04	
vs Single						
Married vs	0.52	-0.90	1.94	0.72	.06	
Single						
Divorced vs	-0.45	-3.09	2.20	1.34	03	
Single						
Vigour	0.25	-0.91	0.59	0.17	.19	
Dedication	0.39*	0.01	0.77	0.19	.28*	
Absorption	0.25*	0.01	0.48	0.12	.19*	

Note. CI = confidence interval; LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit; Dependent Variable: Task Performance. *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

H_{11} Job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) can predict contextual performance among academic staff in Malaysia.

A hierarchical multiple linear regression was conducted to evaluate the prediction of contextual performance from age, gender, educational level and marital status. For the second block analysis (Table 4.6), the demographic variables were evaluated. The results of the second block hierarchical multiple linear regressions revealed the model to be statistically significant (p < .001). Besides, gender was found to be a significant predictor of contextual performance after considering the effect of job engagement in the second block lock ($\beta = .22, p = .022$).

HMLR was conducted to examine whether job engagement (vigour, dedication and absorption) can predict contextual performance. For the second block analysis, the predictor variables (vigour, dedication, absorption) were added to the analysis. The results of the second block revealed a model to be statistically significant (p < .001). The R² change value of .38 associated with this regression model suggests that the predictors of job engagement account for 38% of the variation in explaining contextual performance after controlling the effect of demographic variables.

The effect size has been calculated, and the result showed that the effect size of job engagement for explaining contextual performance was .613, which can be considered large effect size (Cohen, 1988). As the \mathbb{R}^2 change of second block is significant, job engagement can predict contextual performance, thus indicating that H_{11} was supported by the results. However, based on Table 4.6, contextual performance can only be predicted by absorption ($\beta = .26$, p = .006) but not vigour ($\beta = .21$, p = .109) and dedication ($\beta = .25$, p = .086).

Table 4.6

X 7 ' 1 1		050/ 0			0	D ²	A D ²
Variable	В		I for <i>B</i>	SE B	β	R^2	ΔR^2
		LL	UL				
Step 1						.06	.06
Constant	14.76	6.40	23.12	4.22			
Age	0.04	-0.12	0.21	0.08	.05		
Gender	2.95*	0.43	5.46	1.27	.22*		
(1=Female)							
Master vs	-0.87	-7.01	5.26	3.10	06		
Bachelor							
(1=Master)							
PhD vs	-0.86	-6.76	5.04	2.98	06		
Bachelor (1=							
PhD)							
Relationship	-1.86	-9.31	5.60	3.76	05		
vs Single $(1=$							
Relationship)							
Married vs	0.26	-2.80	3.32	1.54	.02		
Single							
(1=Married)							
Divorced vs	-1.05	-6.81	4.71	2.91	04		
Single							
(1=Divorced)							
(1-Divolced)							

Hierarchical Regression Result for Contextual Performance

Step 2						.44	<mark>.38***</mark>
Constant	-7.71	-16.17	0.74	4.27			
Age	-0.01	-0.13	0.12	0.06	01		
Gender	2.56*	0.58	4.53	1.00	.19*		
Master vs	s 0.38	-4.51	5.28	2.47	.03		
Bachelor							
PhD vs	s 0.40	-4.32	5.13	2.39	.03		
Bachelor							
Relationship	-0.27	-6.08	5.55	2.94	01		
vs Single							
Married vs	s -0.43	-2.85	1.98	1.22	03		
Single							
Divorced vs	s -3.13	-7.64	1.39	2.28	11		
Single							
Vigour	0.47	-0.11	1.05	0.29	.21		
Dedication	0.57	-0.08	1.22	0.33	.25		
Absorption	0.57**	0.17	0.97	0.20	.26**		

Note. CI = confidence interval; LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit; Dependent Variable: Contextual Performance. *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001.

H_{12} Job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) can predict counterproductive work behaviour among academic staff in Malaysia.

To examine the effect of demographic variables, a hierarchical multiple linear regression was conducted to evaluate the prediction of CWB from age, gender, educational level and marital status. For the first and second block analysis, the demographic variables were evaluated. The results of the second block hierarchical multiple linear regressions (refer to Table 4.7) revealed the model to be not statistically significant (p = .141). Besides, age, gender, educational level and marital status were found not to predict CWB after considering the effect of job engagement in the second block.

HMLR was conducted to examine whether job engagement (vigour, dedication and absorption) can predict CWB. For the second block analysis, the predictor variables (vigour, dedication, absorption) were added to the analysis. The results of the second block revealed the model to be not statistically significant (p = .141). In addition, the R^2 change value of .08 associated with this regression model suggests that the addition of vigour, dedication and absorption to the first block accounts for 8% of the variation in CWB after controlling the effect of demographic variables.

The effect size has been calculated and the result showed that the effect sizes of job engagement for explaining CWB was .087 which can be considered as medium effect size (Cohen, 1988). As the R² change of second block is not significant, job engagement cannot predict CWB, thus indicating that the present study did not support H₁₂. Based on Table 4.7, vigour ($\beta = .16$, p = .323), dedication ($\beta = -.31$, p = .082) and absorption ($\beta = -.127$, p = .276) are not significant predictors of CWB of academic staff.

Table 4.7

Variable	В	95% C	CI for <i>B</i>	SE B	β	R^2	ΔR^2
		LL	UL				
Step 1						.04	.04
Constant	8.33	4.14	12.52	2.12			
Age	0.02	-0.07	0.10	0.04	.04		
Gender	0.17	-1.09	1.43	0.64	.03		
(1=Female)							
Master vs	1.63	-1.45	4.70	1.55	.22		
Bachelor (1=							
Master)							
PhD vs	1.54	-1.42	4.50	1.49	.22		
Bachelor							
(1=PhD)							
Relationship	0.35	-3.38	4.09	1.89	.02		
PhD vs Bachelor (1=PhD)							

Hierarchical Regression Result for CWB

vs Single (1= Relationship)							
Married vs	-0.94	-2.47	0.59	-0.13	13		
Single							
(1=Married)							
Divorced vs	-2.50	-5.39	0.39	-0.18	18		
Single							
(1=Divorced)							
Step 2						.12	.08
Constant	13.69	8.41	18.96	2.67			
Age	0.03	-0.05	0.10	0.04	.06		
Gender	0.14	-1.10	1.37	0.62	.02		
Master vs	0.89	-2.17	3.95	1.54	.12		
Bachelor							
PhD vs	0.79	-2.17	3.74	1.49	.11		
Bachelor							
Relationship	0.03	-3.61	3.66	1.83	.00		
vs Single							
Married vs	-0.67	-2.18	0.84	0.76	09		
Single							
Divorced vs	-2.03	-4.84	0.79	1.42	14		
Single							
Vigour	0.18	-0.18	0.54	0.18	.16		
Dedication	-0.36	-0.76	0.05	0.21	31		
Absorption	-0.14	-0.39	0.11	0.13	13		
Mate CI and	1		1 1!				1 +

Note. \overrightarrow{CI} = confidence interval; LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit; Dependent Variable: CWB.

As a summary of the results, the present study supported all the hypotheses on correlations among varaibles. Results of HMLR revealed that H_{10} , H_{11} and H_{12} were expected that job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) could predict task performance, contextual performance and CWB among academic staff. The results revealed that H_{10} and H_{11} were supported but not H_{12} (refer to Table 4.8).

Table 4.8

Summary of Hypotheses Testing

Hypothesis	Decision
Correlation	
1. Vigour & TP	Supported
2. Vigour & CP	Supported
--------------------------	---------------
3. Vigour & CWB	Supported
4. Dedication & TP	Supported
5. Dedication & CP	Supported
6. Dedication & CWB	Supported
7. Absorption & TP	Supported
8. Absorption & CP	Supported
9. Absorption & CWB	Supported
Hierarchical Regression	
10. JE \rightarrow TP	Supported
11. JE \rightarrow CP	Supported
12. JE \rightarrow CWB	Not supported

CHAPTER 5.0

DISCUSSION

5.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the research findings will be discussed. The limitation of the current study as well as the recommendations for future research will also be highlighted. The conclusion of the study is to present a clear picture and idea of this research project.

5.2 Discussion

Correlation between Variables

Vigour, Dedication, Absorption and Task Performance. The present study found that the vigour of academic staff positively correlated with their task performance. This finding is aligned with other past studies (Bhardwaj & Kalia, 2020; Carmeli et al., 2009; Hasbeleben, 2008; Kartal, 2018; Rana et al., 2019). Carmeli et al. (2009) posited that employee vigour will contribute to their completion of a task, quality of performance and achievement of goals. The possible explanation is that an academic staff with a higher level of vigour is more likely to be eager to act and engage in their work tasks such as teaching, research, publication, and consultation (Shirom, 2007). The vigour of academic staff brings a better concentration to identify a potentially effective

solution, thus cultivating a greater ability to make the right moves in the right ways (Isen, 1999).

The present study revealed a significant positive correlation between dedication and task performance. This finding aligns with past studies (Rana et al., 2019; Van Scotter, 1994) that the dedication of employees enhances their mindfulness, motivation, and commitment, thus leading to higher productivity and eventually increasing the likelihood of business success (Roseline & Konya, 2019). Academic staff with high dedication are more willing to commit to achieving their performance indicator which encourages them to improve their teaching, research, consultancy, and services. Thus, increased dedication will lead to better task performance among academic staff.

Based on the findings of the present study, the research outcome supported that absorption was significantly positive correlated with task performance. This result was parallel to past studies (Bhardwaj & Kalia, 2020; Chu & Lee, 2012; Rana et al., 2019; Satavuthi & Chaipoopirutana, 2014). Thus, it indicated that the academic staff with greater absorption are more likely to perform well in their essential tasks such as teaching, writing, publication and consultation. This could be explained by the absorbed academic staff feeling high-level sense of belonging with their HEIs and were happy to work with high concentration. This idea is supported by Bhardwaj and Kalia (2020), indicating that employees with a sense of belongingness, engrossment and happiness tend to perform their job roles and duties more efficiently and effectively. When examining the unique contribution of the engagement dimension to task performance, the outcome showed inconsistency with the past studies. The present study found that dedication correlated to task performance with the largest effect size but this is not reflected in the past studies (Bhardwaj & Kalia, 2021; Karatepe, 2013; Rana et al., 2019; Sittar, 2020) which suggested either vigour or absorption possessing the highest effect size. It is suspected that the vigorous input of academic staff may be filtered in zoom teaching method while the absorbed academic staff may be interrupted by a decent amount of distraction thus the effect of vigour and absorption could be a setback in the online teaching method during the pandemic. However, a dedicated employee shows a strong involvement, attachment, and enthusiasm which make them maintain their task performance with high motivation in pursuing their goals (Kartal, 2018).

Vigour, Dedication, Absorption and Contextual Performance. According to the results of the present study, a significant positive relationship was found between vigour and contextual performance. This result is congruent with the previous studies (Bhardwaj & Kalia, 2020; Karatepe, 2013; Little et al., 2011; Rana et al., 2019), which found that vigorous employees were linked to a higher chance of helping others and improving the function of the organization. Bakker and Demerouti (2009) supported that employee vigour was positively correlated to the extra-role performance, which shared a similar theoretical definition with contextual performance. It refers to actions that improve organizational effectiveness without being stated in official job roles (McKenzie et al., 1991). Specifically, academic staff in the Malaysia HEIs

setting with high vigour characterized by physical strength, emotional energy and cognitive liveliness tends to enthusiastically help their colleagues and build social connections, thus, creating a prosocial working culture in the university.

The results of the present study exhibited a significant positive relationship between dedication and contextual performance. This result was consistent with the past studies (Muldoon et al., 2017; Rana et al., 2019; Roseline & Konya, 2019; Shantz et al., 2013; Van Scotter & Motowidlo, 1996). It can be explained that dedicated employees attach to and identify themselves as part of the organization and are more willing to perform extra-role behaviour for the good of other colleagues and the working environment (Kartal, 2018). He or she will invest personal resources in assisting the HEIs or faculty in reaching better financial, student and enrolment goals. This aligned with Muldoon et al. (2017) that dedication usually refer to the effort that is above or beyond the formally described work contract, and it is required for an employee to develop a positive social exchange relationship in their workplace, thus enhancing contextual performance.

The present study presented a significant and positive relationship between absorption and contextual performance. The increase in absorption will increase contextual performance, which was consistent with past studies (Aldalahmeh et al., 2018; Bhardwaj & Kalia, 2020; Bilal et al., 2019; Karatepe, 2013; Rana et al., 2019). The result was shown to be reasonable as when academic staff enjoy their job activity with positive emotion, they tend to perform prosocial behaviour such as offering help or taking the initiative in the workplace. It is because prosocial behaviour can prolong the positive mood and increase the academic staff's self-attention to their feelings (Kayser et al., 2010). Thus, absorbed academic staff is more likely to offer helping behaviour to students, faculty members and colleagues and eventually take the "extra mile".

The present study found that dedication is the strongest predictor in explaining contextual performance than vigour and absorption. This aligns with the past studies support that dedication contributes the most to contextual performance (Bakker & Demerouti, 2009; Rana et al., 2019). Rana et al. (2019) posited that dedication leads to higher cognitive and emotional association towards their job demand which is fundamental to outperforming their contribution towards organizational targets. With higher efficiency in completing goals and tasks, dedicated academic staff are more capable of "free up" resources to execute such prosocial acts that are which is not included in their job requirement (Christian et al., 2011).

Vigour, Dedication, Absorption and Counterproductive Work Behaviour. The findings of the present study had supported that there was a negative significant relationship between vigour and CWB. This result aligns with the past studies (Balducci et al., 2011; Bilal et al., 2019; Hartog & Belschak, 2012; Rana et al., 2019). It may be due to vigour serving as a unique type of positive affect (Shirom, 2011), which showed linkage to job motivation (Quinn & Dutton, 2005), resilience (Shirom, 2004) and mental health (Pressman & Cohen, 2005). The benefits of being vigorous inhibit the intention of academic staff to be counterproductive, which is harmful to their HEIs. Past evidence supported those happy employees with positive affect perform more prosocial behaviour (George, 1991) and relatively less CWB such as complaining, talking negatively about their job and creating problems.

The present study found that there was a significant negative association between dedication and CWB. The negative relationship was consistent with past studies (Balducci et al., 2011; Bilal et al., 2019; Fourie, 2013; Hartog & Belschak, 2012). This could occur as dedicated employees may feel indebted and attached to their organization, hence leading to fewer acts of CWB or deviance as a way of reciprocity (Shantz et al., 2013). Therefore, it makes sense that dedicated academic staff perform fewer CWB to protect the organizational well-being of the HEIs to which they are proud to belong to. Once the dedicated academic staff identify themselves as part of their HEIs, their CWB decreases because they regard the interests of HEIs as their own.

The present study found a significant negative relationship between absorption and CWB. This finding is aligned with the past studies (Bilal et al., 2019; Kura et al., 2019; Rana et al., 2019; Shantz et al., 2013). The possible explanation is that the academic staff with a high level of absorption performs the job duties with high concentration and finds it difficult to detach themselves from the flow experience (Shekari, 2015). As a result, the absorbed academic staff invests most of their time and energy in performing their job role, leaving little room for CWB to happen. In addition, the positive mood from absorption may relatively decrease the tendency of CWB by promoting the tendency of prosocial behaviour. This is supported by Kura et al. (2019) that engaged academic staff to focus on the accomplishing work goals with a high level of passion and motivation. With this state of mind, they are less likely to perform CWB as it goes against their goals (Kura et al., 2019).

The comparison of the effect size between engagement dimensions showed that dedication possesses the highest power to inhibit CWB among academic staff. This is congruent with past studies (Fourine, 2013; Kartal, 2018) but incongruent with other studies (Rana et al., 2019; Reijseger et al., 2016) suggest that vigour and absorption could be the strongest predictor as well. Although there are mixed outcomes, the researcher maintained the stance of the present findings. The importance of dedication needs to be emphasized as it brings some significant elements such as a sense of pride, identification and attachment towards their job and organization. These are crucial supportive factor for academic staff to remain loyal and committed to their HEIs when overcoming the challenges during pandemic. They will feel responsible to protect the well-being of the organization thus reducing the occurrence of CWB in the most effective way.

Prediction of Individual Work Performance from Job Engagement

Job Engagement and Task Performance. The present study found that gender showed a significant control effect on job engagement to task performance. It may be because gender differences in personal characteristics can influence how the engaged academic staff produces fruitful job performance. Gender brings various advantages to the academic staff in converting job engagement into task performance. It is supported by past studies that female academic staff are more willing to encourage student participation (Maher, 1987), bond relationships with students (Statham et al., 1991) and be supportive and expressive (Rashidi & Naderi, 2012). Male academic staff was more task-oriented and focused on values of achievement (Hassan & Ogunkoya, 2014) and competitive (Rashidi & Naderi, 2012). Especially, the Covid-19 pandemic limited the contact between academic staff and students to control the virus outbreak; the control effect of gender has been magnified and creates a greater performance gap between academic staff of different genders.

Besides, vigour does not contribute uniquely to task performance in the presence of dedication and absorption. The non-significant relationship between vigour and task performance was inconsistent with the past studies (Bhardwaj & Kalia, 2020; Carmeli et al., 2009; Karatepe, 2013; Rana et al., 2019). This could be explained by the negative effect of the online teaching method in the virtual classroom, specifically during the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic. Indeed, vigour refers to the physical strength, emotional energy, and cognitive liveliness of the individual (Shirom, 2011). However, the involved academic staff in the present study is mostly teaching their students in

the virtual classroom due to the pandemic. These vigorous inputs may not directly be converted into an indicator of successful task performance. Flynn and Noonan (2020) supported this explanation, who found that academic staff is less connected and engaged with their students. The teaching experience of being "soulless" and "talking to myself" might explain why the vigour of academic staff does not predict their task performance. Another explanation is that academic staff may suffer from the negative effect of feeling vigorous, burnout due to the high potential for unfavourable teaching experience (Shirom, 2011) and overload and exposure to zooming (Amponsah et al., 2021). This aligned with academic staff reporting that they experienced more distractions, less student interaction and less rapport building in an online environment (Flynn & Noonan, 2020).

Between dedication and absorption, the present study revealed that dedication is a stronger predictor of task performance than absorption. This resonated with the previous study on its highest correlation with task performance among engagement dimension. Indeed, absorption also contributes to task performance as it brings "flow experience" to the academic staff that makes them immersed in their teaching activities and strongly influences their job performance (Chu & Lee, 2012). With better concentration, academic staff utilizes their resources to the fullest in achieving their key performance indicators and being more effective and efficient due to fewer distraction received in the work progress. Nevertheless, dedication showed the highest contribution to task performance. The findings emphasize that instead of the positive feelings from absorption, the strong willpower from dedication can be

more reliable in predicting task performance in emotional and energy-draining phenomenon during the pandemic (Amponsah et al., 2022). They need the sense of purpose, commitment and inspiration attributed to dedication to fight the tiredness and emptiness where the physical interactions remain absent (Spicer, 2020).

Job Engagement and Contextual Performance. The present study revealed that gender showed a significant control effect on job engagement to contextual performance. The possible explanation for gender to be a significant control variable is that the gender of academic staff could influence their priority and proportion of the job engagement invested in performing extra-role behaviour. In other words, gender may influence how the engaged academic staff utilizes their effort in pursuing certain job roles. This is supported by the past study that females are more people-oriented and interpersonally helpful (Graham, 1989; Hassan & Ogunkoya, 2014) while males are more realistic (Su et al., 2009); task-oriented (Graham, 1989) and working on things instead of people (Su et al., 2009). This gender difference may cause the academic staff to perceive the importance of contextual performance such as interpersonal helping, faculty key performance indicators, and overall HEIs success in different priority order, thus leading to significant differences in contextual performance.

According to the results of the present study, the relationship between job engagement and contextual performance was supported. However, the findings found that absorption is the only significant predictor of contextual performance among the engagement dimensions. This indicated that absorption contributes uniquely to contextual performance to the extent that it overshadows the effect of vigour and dedication. It could be explained that the sense of belonging and attitude of engrossment from a high absorption generates positive emotions such as joy and happiness (Ballew & Omoto, 2018) which triggers them to be prosocial. The past study suggested that the absorbed academic staff was happy even when working intensely for long hours and absorption boosted their level of contextual performance (Bhardwaj & Kalia, 2020). In other words, employees with a high level of absorption were happier and more willing to take action to benefit the well-being of the larger group. Thus, suggesting that absorption enhances academic staff's contextual performance.

Further strengthening the contribution of absorption is the teaching experience of academic staff full of tiredness and exhaustion during the pandemic (Supiano, 2020). The positive emotion from absorption brings tremendous advantage in fighting fatigue and promoting, rewarding and reinforcing prosocial behaviour (Aknin et al., 2017). On the other hand, the contribution of vigour has been reduced as vigorous academic staff does not necessarily increase their contextual performance because vigour only represents the capability of academic staff to act good in their organization. Even they "can be' helpful' but not necessarily "will be" helpful especially in the midst of an unfavourable experience (Bakker & Demerouti, 2009). Although some studies suggested that vigour is closely related to the motivational process (Seo et al., 2004) and positive action tendency (Frijda et al., 1989), it is still inconclusive to explain vigour's effect on its possible consequences. Past researchers argued that there are two mechanisms (Gendolla, 2000) that are important in linking vigour and its consequences which are its informational effect on behaviourrelated appraisals (Tsai et al., 2007) and behavioural interests (Shirom, 2011).

The present study revealed that academic staff's dedication does not contribute to higher contextual performance. It may be due to dedicated academic staff being characterized by a strong sense of enthusiasm, inspiration, purpose, and challenges toward achieving their personal career goals (Karatepe & Olubade, 2009) and relatively less focus on organizational goals. Dedication mostly represents an interactive mode where employees obtain a sense of meaning and pride by engaging in their job role (Schaufeli et al., 2009), not their organizational role in the bigger context. Compared to the positive emotion stemming from the absorption that evokes a helpful act, the dedicated pursuit towards job performance might not be influential in contextual performance. It consumes most of the attention that should be reserved for other aspects such as personal relationships within the organization (Russo, 2018). Thus, dedicated academic staff might be overemphasized on persisting on job tasks and additional work beyond their job requirement (Liu et al., 2013) and eventually overlook the benefits of their colleagues, department, faculty and HEIs.

Job Engagement and Counterproductive Work Behaviour (CWB). The present study found that gender showed a non-significant control effect on job engagement to CWB. This is not aligned with past studies suggesting that males perform more CWB than females (Gonzalez-Mulé et al., 2013; Kanafa-Chmielewska, 2016; Raman et al., 2016; Spector & Zhou, 2013). This could be due to the increased females' CWB or the reduced males' CWB during the pandemic. The female academic staff may perform the same levels of CWB as males because they both suffer from unpleasant working experiences during the pandemic, thus cancelling the gender difference in CWB (Flynn & Noonan, 2020). This is supported by similar findings that individuals low in calmness, regardless of gender, are more likely to be short-tempered, upset, unhappy and tend to act aggressively or counterproductively (Gonzalez-Mulé et al., 2013). Therefore, the male and female academic staff might be similarly impacted by the negative feelings and result in the same levels of CWB.

The present study found that the relationship between job engagement and CWB is not supported. The non-significant relationship between vigour and CWB is inconsistent with most of the past studies (Ariani, 2013; Bagyo, 2016; Balducci et al., 2011; Bilal et al., 2019; Hartog & Belschak, 2012; Hu et al., 2017; Kura et al., 2019; Rana et al., 2019; Shantz et al., 2013). The possible reason is that the vigour, and the positive effect of academic staff had been offset before inhibiting their CWB due to the negative impact of the online teaching method, such as Zoom fatigue. Although vigour is linked to motivational processes, it is only a malleable state that can be affected by dispositional and contextual variables (Little et al., 2011). The previous study

recognized that prolonged exposure to zooming with students or colleagues could be overwhelming for academicians and cause emotional exhaustion, fatigue and burnout (AL Ma'mari et al., 2020). The vigorous energy may not reduce CWB as zooming is reported as an "energy-draining action" to understand the non-verbal gestures and imitate real-life interaction (Jiang, 2020). Adding to that, academic staff may hold a stronger prior negative attitude towards the online teaching method, thus offsetting the inhibition power of vigour on CWB (Zounek & Sudický, 2013).

Besides that, the present study also found that the dedication of academic staff does not predict their CWB. This finding contradicts with the past studies (Ariani, 2013; Bagyo, 2016; Balducci et al., 2011; Bilal et al., 2019; Fourie, 2013; Hartog & Belschak, 2012; Kura et al., 2019; Shantz et al., 2013) which indicates that academic staff with higher dedication will perform fewer CWB as they identify themselves as part of the HEIs and attach their sense of pride and purpose to it. However, the impact of dedication could be discounted without face-to-face interaction with organizational member. There is no doubt that the online communication method is effective, but a lack of physical presence can be depersonalizing while zooming with a large group in a virtual space (Jiang, 2020). Spicer (2020) argued that zooming could diminish selfrecognition as an individual and cause the feeling of being overlooked. This could explain that the academic staff behind the screen tends to neglect their responsibility for being counterproductive since they do not feel like being part of the group. Hence, academic staff in virtual space is prone to perform CWB regardless of their dedication level.

Lastly, the results of the present study revealed that there is no prediction of CWB from the absorption of academic staff. This finding is contradicted with the past studies (Ariani, 2013; Bagyo, 2016; Bilal et al., 2019; Fourie, 2013; Hartog & Belschak, 2012; Hu et al., 2017; Kura et al., 2019; Rana et al., 2019; Shantz et al., 2013). It may be due to absorbed academic staff being characterized by a high level of concentration and fully invested attention into every aspect of work (Gera et al., 2019). In this case, the academic staff tends to broaden their thinking and widen their perspective of thoughts (Fredrickson, 2001). Thus, the academic staff enhances their recognition to be more receptive and sensitive to job-related negative aspects especially during this pandemic where academic staff are forced to face difficulties adapting to new delivery methods. Therefore, it makes them more likely to complain to colleagues or outsiders about the episodes of technical breakdowns and problematic communication during online teaching (Zounek & Sudický, 2013).

5.3 Implication

Theoretical Implication

The present study contributes to the literature by exploring the relationship between the dimensions of job engagement (vigour, dedication, absorption) and individual work performance (task performance, contextual performance, counterproductive work behaviour). The findings of correlation consolidated the positive relationship between the three dimensions of job engagement and task performance as well as contextual performance. Besides, the present study also reaffirmed the negative relationship between the dimensions of job engagement and CWB which is aligned with the literature. By exploring the dimensional relationship between job engagement and IWP, the present study discovered some literature gaps which the researchers may have overlooked. The findings of regression analysis argued that the dimensions of job engagement do not predict CWB among academic staff. At the same time, vigour does not predict task performance and contextual performance, while dedication does not predict contextual performance. The present study suggests that the Covid-19 pandemic may affect the engagement-performance relationship among Malaysian academic staff. It may be due to the heightened job demand that affects how their job engagement contributes to their behavioural outcomes. During the pandemic, the academic staff faced acute challenges and stresses of the time-pressured upskill due to the transition into the new delivery and communication methods (Flynn & Noonan, 2020). Furthermore, the change in working experience impacts the contribution of individual engagement dimension to IWP by magnifying or diminishing their respective effect on the specific type of IWP. For example, dedication is more powerfully correlated to IWP while CWB is less attributed to job engagement. Similar research is scarce in literature, especially research among academic staff in HEIs during the pandemic. Therefore, the present study provides insight and a new perspective on the engagement-performance relationship among this group of working employees. The findings serve as literature support for future researchers to further examine the relationship between job engagement and IWP in HEIs and study the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic.

The present study had referred to Kahn's (1990) Job engagement theory to hypothesize the dimensional relationship between job engagement and IWP. Kahn (1990) suggested that an engaged individual fully invest personal energy into his or her job role to be active and complete their job (Rich, 2010) without explicitly concluding the linkage between job engagement and IWP. The findings of the present study outlined that the academic staff with higher vigour, dedication, and absorption tends to carry out more task performance, contextual performance and less CWB. The findings of the correlation analysis consolidated the engagement-performance relationship suggested by Kahn's (1990) Job Engagement theory. Therefore, the theory is suitable for explaining the relationship between job engagement and IWP among Malaysian academic staff. Besides, the present study provides a reference for future studies regarding the unique contribution of the job engagement dimensions to the dimensions of IWP. The findings displayed that even though each dimension of job engagement was related to each other, they still serve as an independent variable in predicting different types of IWP. Thus, future studies should explore job engagement and IWP together with their dimensions to enrich the existing work in the field.

Practical Implication

Firstly, the present study suggested that gender has a significant control effect on the association between job engagement and task performance and contextual performance of academic staff. This is aligned with the past studies as the gender difference in academicians' performance existed even before the pandemic (Khan et al., 2015; Leahey, 2006; Lev & Koslowsky, 2012; Thakur, 2015). This finding contributes to practical implication by highlighting the capability and advantage of each gender which should be learned and imitated by the opposite gender. The findings on the gender difference in job performance could be translated into gender diversity practice in the faculty. The university management should encourage gender diversity in the faculty to enhance the cross-gender learning process. Through working with colleagues from the opposite gender, academic staff can reflect on their teaching style and strategy and encourage the learning process to improve their job performance. This is supported by past studies which suggested that gender diversity in a university can bring innovation and creativity (Al-Shaali & Al-Khoury, 2015), problem-solving and productivity (Cooney, 2016), organizational reputation (Kaur & Arora, 2020), organizational performance (Lowen, 2019) and organizational maturity (Wieczorek-Szymanska, 2020). The university could adopt several practices to enhance gender diversity, such as workplace inventory, leader involvement and diversity committees to improve the job performance of the academic staff and the HEIs (American Federation of Teachers (AFT), 2011).

The present study can also raise awareness of academic staff regarding how their job engagement and IWP will be affected during the pandemic. This study can provide insight for the academic staff to understand the impact of the pandemic on their job engagement and IWP, thus being more aware of the consequences of the transition adopted in the HEIs. The findings serve as a reference for academic staff to be more prepared deal with their IWP difficulties throughout their adaptation. At the same time, the findings of this study have managerial implications for human resource (HR) practitioners and upper management of the HEIs. It contributes to HEIs management by revealing alarming issues in academic staff's engagement and IWP so that more effort could be invested in supporting their staff who need managerial support in coping with challenges. Effective intervention, training programmes or adaptive organizational policies and procedures can be designed and introduced to the academic staff. It aims to enhance the job engagement and job performance of academic staff by assisting them to adapt to the transition made in the HEIs.

The findings of the present study also provide an insight to policymakers such as training experts and industrial-organizational practitioners in designing an appropriate solution to improve the specific types of IWP. For example, the policymakers can improve the academic staff's task performance by nurturing their dedication. The management can promote the academic staff's dedication by enhancing their motivation in learning and goal achievement to adopt an active problem solving and coping strategies (Liu et al., 2013). It is necessary to provide work demands that are challenging and yet attainable to encourage academic staff to overcome and fulfil their competency needs. During the pandemic, the performance evaluation system should be altered according to the transition in the working environment. At the same time, necessary training and resources need to be prepared for academic staff to overcome the new challenges in the pandemic (Osborne & Hammoud, 2017). For example, technical literacy, change in teaching strategy, and attitude towards technological change (Mardiana, 2020) should be well-trained to empower the academic staff. Once the academic staff adapts successfully and fulfils their competency needs, they can be characterized by a sense of meaning, significance, inspiration, and pride (Roseline & Konya, 2019) and eventually improve their dedication and task performance.

Besides, the present findings provide practical implications in guiding HEIs management in improving the academic staff's contextual performance. The absorption of academic staff can improve their contextual performance by creating enjoyment and happiness. The key to achieveing absorption in the job is the variety, appropriate challenges, clear goals, and immediate feedback (Cziksentmihalyi, 1990). The HEIs management can design attainable and meaningful goals for personal, department or faculty levels to increase the tendency of absorption. When the academic staff consciously focuses on realistic goals with their skills matching, they are more likely to concentrate their attention and enjoy doing the task. A meaningful goal is necessary for the academic staff to stretch their effort to its limit voluntarily to accomplish something worthwhile (Cziksentmihalyi, 1990). After evaluation goal achievement, feedback should be given as soon as possible to monitor the progress and performance. Thus, the absorption of academic staff can be promoted by proper goal setting and feedback and eventually improving their contextual performance.

5.4 Limitations and Recommendations

The first limitation of the present study is the sampling method used to gather the research data. Although the purposive sampling method is more cost-saving and time-efficient, the present study acknowledged that it might not be able to represent the population in Malaysia. Even though data was collected from both public and private universities in each region of Malaysia, a fair manner of participant recruitment cannot be guaranteed. It has been argued that the purposive sampling method is prone to unforeseeable bias which might affect the accuracy and generalization of the findings (Sharma, 2017). Future researchers are suggested to consider a random sampling method. It is preferable to strengthen the internal validity of the study by collecting responses through a more rigorous sample selection. Thus, the results of the study can be generalizable to the academic staff population in Malaysia and eliminate sampling bias.

Secondly, the present study was limited by the difficulty with the reliance on self-reported data. It is undeniable that self-reported measure is commonly used because it is effective in collecting a large amount of quantitative data. However, the limitations of self-reported measures should be considered by future researchers. The self-reported measure is prone to social desirability bias, which refers to the tendency of respondents to faking or lying when answering sensitive questions. The probability of respondents providing invalid answers may affect the validity and reliability of the questionnaire (Demetriou et al., 2015). The recommendation for future study is to consider a multi-rater

source for outcome variables. For example, supervisor, student, and colleague ratings can be included as a cross-validation source for rating academic staff's task performance, contextual performance and CWB. The multi-rater feedback from different perspectives is more accurate and reflective in examining the nature of the relationship between variables.

Finally, one of the limitations is that the present study remains inconclusive about the relationship between job engagement and IWP. The present study did not capture important information of the participants such as working mode and tenure year of working. This information can make difference in results but the study did not include them to enrich the discussion. By examining the dimensional association between job engagement and IWP, the results provided a reference for future researchers to further investigate the engagement-performance relationship. Future research should take account of possible moderators or mediators between the linkages such as gender, working experience, delivery method of teaching, emotional exhaustion, perceived organizational support and organizational commitment to understand better how job engagement is related to behavioural outcomes. The inclusion of the mediator or moderator can create more senses in explaining the inconsistency of the linkage between job engagement and IWP.

5.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the present study has examined the relationship between job engagement and IWP in the details of their dimensions among the academic staff in HEIs of Malaysia. Firstly, gender showed a significant control effect on job engagement to task performance and contextual performance. Secondly, the present study supported the correlations between all the dimensions of job engagement and IWP except for vigour and CWB. Besides that, dedication and absorption were found to significantly predict task performance, while only absorption was found to predict contextual performance significantly. None of the vigour, dedication or absorption was found to be a significant predictor of CWB. The existing research on the association between job engagement and IWP can be replicated by targeting the academic staff from different work settings such as face-to-face and online teaching modes, to better understanding of this topic. Hence, the research outcomes of this paper could be a reference for future researchers and academic practitioners to develop better welfare for academic staff in HEIs.

REFERENCES

- Agbionu, U. C., Anyalor, M., & Nwali, A. C. (2018). Employee engagement and performance of lecturers in Nigerian tertiary institutions. *Journal* of Education and Entrepreneurship, 5(2), 69-87. https://doi.org/10.26762/jee.2018.40000015
- Ainer, C. D., Subramaniam, C., & Arokiasamy, L. (2018). Determinants of turnover intention in the private universities in Malaysia: A conceptual paper. SHS Web of Conferences, 56, 03004. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20185603004
- Aknin, L. B., Van de Vondervoort, J. W., & Hamlin, J. K. (2017). Positive feelings reward and promote prosocial behavior. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 20, 55-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.08.017
- AL Ma'mari, Q., Sharour, L. A., & Al Omari, O. (2020). Fatigue, burnout, work environment, workload and perceived patient safety culture among critical care nurses. *British Journal of Nursing*, 29(1), 28-34. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2020.29.1.28
- Al-dalahmeh, M., Masa'deh, R., Abu Khalaf, R. K., & Obeidat, B. Y. (2018). The effect of employee engagement on organizational performance via the mediating role of job satisfaction: The case of IT employees in Jordanian banking sector. *Modern Applied Science*, 12(6), 17-43. https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v12n6p17
- Aldrich, H. (2001). Organizations evolving. Sage Publications.
- Al-Shaari, M., & Al-Khoury, P. (2015). Are women better leaders than men? A popular dilemma: Evidence form Financial Institutions in Lebanon. In IRES 11th International Conference. http://www.worldresearchlibrary.org/up_proc/pdf/77-144471403508-12.pdf
- American Federation of Teachers (AFT). (2011). Promoting gender diversity in the faculty: What higher education unions can do. AFT Higher Education. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED520168.pdf
- Amponsah, S., Van Wyk, M. M., & Kolugu, M. K. (2022). Academic experiences of "Zoom-fatigue" as a virtual streaming phenomenon during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Web-Based Learning and Teaching Technologies*, 17(6), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijwltt.287555
- Ariani, D. W. (2013). The relationship between employee engagement, organizational citizenship behavior, and counterproductive work behavior. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.5430/ijba.v4n2p46

- Bagyo, Y. (2016). The role of employee engagement in anticipating counterproductive work behavior: A study of literature. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 18(09), 141-147. https://doi.org/10.9790/487x-180904141147
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2009). The crossover of work engagement between working couples: A closer look at the role of empathy. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 24(3), 220-236. doi:10.1108/02683940910939313
- Balducci, C., Schaufeli, W. B., & Fraccaroli, F. (2011). The job demands– resources model and counterproductive work behaviour: The role of job-related affect. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 20(4), 467-496. doi:10.1080/13594321003669061
- Ballew, M. T., & Omoto, A. M. (2018). Absorption: How nature experiences promote awe and other positive emotions. *Ecopsychology*, 10(1), 26-35. https://doi.org/10.1089/eco.2017.0044
- Bennett, R. J., & Robinson, S. L. (2000). Development of a measure of workplace deviance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(3), 349-360. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.85.3.349
- Bettencourt, L. A., & Brown, S. W. (1997). Contact employees: Relationships among workplace fairness, job satisfaction and prosocial service behaviors. *Journal of Retailing*, 73(1), 39-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-4359(97)90014-2
- Bhardwaj, B., & Kalia, N. (2020). Contextual and task performance: Role of employee engagement and organizational culture in hospitality industry. Vilakshan - XIMB Journal of Management. https://doi.org/10.1108/xjm-08-2020-0089
- Bilal, H., Farooq, N., & Hayat, K. (2019). Empirically investigating the impact of employee engagement on counterproductive work behavior of academic staff. *Global Regional Review*, 4(1), 120-127. https://doi.org/10.31703/grr.2019(iv-i).14
- Bilal, H., Shah, B., Yasir, M., & Mateen, A. (2019). Employee engagement and contextual performance of teaching faculty of private universities. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, 9(1), 81-88.
- Birkett, M. A., & Day, S. J. (1994). Internal pilot studies for estimating sample size. *Statistics in Medicine*, *13*(23-24), 2455-2463. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4780132309
- Borman, W. C., & Motowidlo, S. J. (1997). Task performance and contextual performance: The meaning for personnel selection research. *Human Performance*, *10*(2), 99-109. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327043hup1002_3

- Byrne, O., & MacDonagh, J. (2017). What's love got to do with it? Employee engagement amongst higher education workers. *The Irish Journal of Management*, 36(3), 189-205. doi:10.1515/ijm-2017-0019
- Campbell, J. P. (1990). Modeling the performance prediction problem in industrial and organizational psychology, In M. D. Dunnette & L. M. Hough (Eds.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (pp.687-732). Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Caplan, J. (2013). Strategic talent development: Develop and engage all your people for business success. Kogan Page Publishers.
- Carmeli, A., Ben-Hador, B., Waldman, D. A., & Rupp, D. E. (2009). How leaders cultivate social capital and nurture employee vigor: Implications for job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(6), 1553-1561. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016429
- Carrer, P., & Wolkoff, P. (2018). Assessment of indoor air quality problems in office-like environments: Role of occupational health services. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(4), 741. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15040741
- Chen, H., Richard, O. C., Dorian Boncoeur, O., & Ford, D. L. (2020). Work engagement, emotional exhaustion, and counterproductive work behavior. *Journal of Business Research*, 114, 30-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.03.025
- Christian, M. S., Garza, A. S., & Slaughter, J. E. (2011). Work engagement: A quantitative review and test of its relations with task and contextual performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 64(1), 89-136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01203.x
- Chu, L. C., & Lee, C. L. (2012). Exploring the impact of flow experience on job performance. *The Journal of Global Business Management*, 8(2), 150-158.
- Chughtai, A. A., & Buckley, F. (2011). Work engagement. *Career Development International*, *16*(7), 684-705. https://doi.org/10.1108/13620431111187290
- Coffeng, J. K., Hendriksen, I. J., Duijts, S. F., Twisk, J. W., Van Mechelen, W., & Boot, C. R. (2014). Effectiveness of a combined social and physical environmental intervention on Presenteeism, absenteeism, work performance, and work engagement in office employees. Journal of **Occupational** and Environmental *Medicine*, 56(3), 258-265. https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.00000000000116
- Cohen, S. (1998). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Colquitt, J., LePine, J. & Wesson, M. (2010). Organizational behavior: Improving performance and commitment in the workplace. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Cooney, A. (2016, December 6). *17 reasons why women make great leaders*. 2186. https://www.2186.com.au/single-post/2016/12/06/17-Reasons-Why-Women-Make-Great-Leaders
- Cropanzano, R., & Wright, T. A. (2001). When a "happy" worker is really a "productive" worker: A review and further refinement of the happy-productive worker thesis. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 53(3), 182-199. https://doi.org/10.1037/1061-4087.53.3.182
- Cziksentmihalyi, M. (1990). Flow: The psychology of optimal experience. *Choice Reviews Online*, 28(1), 1-9.
- Dajani, M. A. (2015). The impact of employee engagement on job performance and organisational commitment in the Egyptian banking sector. *Journal of Business and Management Sciences*, 3(5), 138-147. https://doi.org/10.12691/jbms-3-5-1
- Demerouti, E. (2006). Job characteristics, flow, and performance: The moderating role of conscientiousness. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 11(3), 266-280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.11.3.266</u>
- Demetriou, C., Özer, B. U., & Essau, C. A. (2015). Self-report questionnaires. In L. C. Robin & O. L. Scott (Eds.), *The encyclopedia of clinical psychology* (1st ed., pp.1-6). John Wiley and Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118625392.wbecp507
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03193146
- Flynn, S., & Noonan, G. (2020). Mind the gap: Academic staff experiences of remote teaching during the Covid-19 emergency. All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 12(3), 1-19.
- Fong, T. C., & Ho, R. T. (2015). Dimensionality of the 9-item Utrecht work engagement scale revisited: A Bayesian structural equation modeling approach. *Journal of Occupational Health*, 57(4), 353-358. https://doi.org/10.1539/joh.15-0057-oa
- Forster, V. (2020, June 1). Are your eyes hurting during the coronavirus pandemic? You may have "Computer Vision Syndrome". Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/victoriaforster/2020/06/01/are-your-eyes-hurting-during-the--coronavirus-pandemic-you-may-have-computer-vision-syndrome/?sh=2b8985fb6cf9

- Fourie, P. (2013). The impact of merger-related employee status on engagement, burnout and counterproductive work behaviour of employees of a South African Commercial Bank [Master's thesis]. http://scholar.sun.ac.za/handle/10019.1/80341
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2001). The role of positive emotions in positive psychology: The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *American Psychologist*, 56(3), 218-226. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.56.3.218
- Frijda, N. H., Kuipers, P., & Ter Schure, E. (1989). Relations among emotion, appraisal, and emotional action readiness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(2), 212-228. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.2.212
- Gabini, S., & Salessi, S. (2016). Validación de la escala de rendimiento laboral individual en trabajadores argentinos. *Revista Evaluar*, *16*(1), 31-45. https://doi.org/10.35670/1667-4545.v16.n1.15714
- Gallup. (2016). *State of Local and State Government Workers' Engagement in the U.S.* Gallup, Inc. http://www.gallup.com/services/193067/statelocal-state-government-workersengagement-2016.aspx
- Gallup. (2017). *State of the global workplace*. Gallup Press. https://www.gallup.com/workplace/257552/state-global-workplace-2017.aspx
- Gendolla, G. H. (2000). On the impact of mood on behavior: An integrative theory and a review. *Review of General Psychology*, 4(4), 378-408. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.4.4.378
- George, D., & Mallery, P. (2003). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference (11th ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- George, J. M. (1991). State or trait: Effects of positive mood on prosocial behaviors at work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76(2), 299-307. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.76.2.299
- Gera, N., Sharma, R. K., & Saini, P. (2019). Absorption, vigor and dedication: Determinants of employee engagement in B-schools. *Indian Journal of Economics & Business*, 18(1), 61-70.
- Gewin, V. (2020). Five tips for moving teaching online as COVID-19 takes hold. *Nature*, *580*(7802), 295-296. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00896-7
- Gonzalez-Mulé, E., DeGeest, D. S., Kiersch, C. E., & Mount, M. K. (2013). Gender differences in personality predictors of counterproductive behavior. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 28(4), 333-353. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmp-12-2012-0397

- Goodman, S. A., & Svyantek, D. J. (1999). Person-organization fit and contextual performance: Do shared values matter. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 55, 254-275.
- Gorgievski, M. J., Bakker, A. B., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2010). Work engagement and workaholism: Comparing the self-employed and salaried employees. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 5(1), 83-96. doi:10.1080/17439760903509606
- Graham, J. W. (1989). Organizational citizenship behavior: Construct redefinition, operationalization, and validation. Loyola University of Chicago.
- Gravetter, F. J., & Wallnau, L. B. (2014). Essentials of statistics for the behavioral sciences
- Guilford, J. P., & Fruchter, B. (1973). Fundamental statistics in psychology and education (5th ed.). McGraw-Hill Companies.
- Gupta, A., Mishra, P., Pandey, C., Singh, U., Sahu, C., & Keshri, A. (2019). Descriptive statistics and normality tests for statistical data. *Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia*, 22(1), 67-72. https://doi.org/10.4103/aca.aca_157_18
- Halbesleben, J. R. B., & Wheeler, A. R. (2008). The relative roles of engagement and embeddedness in predicting job performance and intention to leave. Work & Stress, 22, 242-256. doi:10.1080/02678370802383962
- Haroon, R. (2020, June 21). Lower productivity, lack of contact are issues of concern for employer, employee. https://www.nst.com.my/opinion/columnists/2020/06/602102/lowerproductivity-lack-contact-are-issues-concern-employer
- Hartog, D. N., & Belschak, F. D. (2012). Work engagement and machiavellianism in the ethical leadership process. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 107(1), 35-47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1296-4
- Hassan, B., & Ogunkoya, O. (2014). Demographic variables and job performance: Any link? (A case of insurance salesmen). *Oeconomica*, 10(4), 19-30.
- Hassan, Z. A., Schattner, P., & Mazza, D. (2006). Doing a pilot study: Why is it essential? *Malaysian Family Physician*, 1(2&3), 70-73. https://doi.org/10.14264/uql.2015.911
- Hu, Y., Hung, C., & Ching, G. S. (2017). Shifting between counterproductive work behavior and organizational citizenship behavior: The effects of workplace support and engagement. *International Journal of Research Studies in Education*, 6(4). https://doi.org/10.5861/ijrse.2016.1632

- Inness, M., Barling, J., & Turner, N. (2005). Understanding supervisor-targeted aggression: A within-person, between-jobs design. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(4), 731-739. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.4.731
- Institute for Employment Studies. (2018). Employee engagement in the higher education sector: An evidence review. Universities Human Resource & Universities and College Employers Association. https://blogs.shu.ac.uk/hallamleaders/files/2018/01/employee_engage ment_in_the_he_sector_-_evidence_review.pdf
- Isen, A. M. (1999b). Positive affect and creativity. In S. Russ (Ed.), *Affect, creative experience, and psychological adjustment* (pp. 3–17). Bruner/Maze.
- Jackson, L. (2014). The work engagement and job performance relationship: Exploring the mediating effect of trait emotional intelligence [Unpublished master's thesis]. San Jose State University.
- Jiang, M. (2020, April 23). *The reason Zoom calls drain your energy*. BBCpage. https://www.bbc.com/worklife/article/20200421-whyzoom-video-chats-are-so-exhausting
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. Academy of Management Journal, 33(4), 692-724. https://doi.org/10.5465/256287
- Kahn, W. A. (1992). To be fully there: Psychological presence at work. *Human Relations*, 45(4), 321-349. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872679204500402
- Kahn, W. A. (2007). Meaningful connections: Positive relationships and attachments at work. In *Exploring positive relationships at work* (pp. 189-206). Psychology Press.
- Kalia, N., & Bhardwaj, B. (2019). Contextual and task performance: Do demographic and organizational variables matter? *Rajagiri Management Journal*, 13(2), 30-42. https://doi.org/10.1108/ramj-09-2019-0017
- Kamal, A. A., Shaipullah, N. M., Truna, L., Sabri, M., & Junaini, S. N. (2020). Transitioning to online learning during COVID-19 pandemic: Case study of a pre-university centre in Malaysia. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, 11(6). doi:10.14569/ijacsa.2020.0110628
- Kamarudin, K. (2020, January 4). Not all students can benefit from online teaching. Bernama. https://www.bernama.com/en/features/news.php?id=1827297
- Kanafa-Chmielewska, D. (2016). Does a "better" employee have gender? Women and men differences in OCBs and CWBs. *International*

Journal of Contemporary Management, *15*(2), 59-83. https://doi.org/10.4467/24498939IJCM.16.010.5551

- Karatepe, O. M. (2013). High-performance work practices and hotel employee performance: The mediation of work engagement. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 32, 132-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2012.05.003
- Karatepe, O. M., & Olugbade, O. A. (2009). The effects of job and personal resources on hotel employees' work engagement. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 28(4), 504-512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2009.02.003
- Kartal, N. (2018). Evaluating the relationship between work engagement, work alienation and work performance of healthcare professionals. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, *11*(3), 251-259. https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2018.1453969
- Katz, D., & Kahn, R. L. (1978). *The social psychology of organizations*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Kaur, N., & Arora, P. (2020). Acknowledging gender diversity and inclusion as key to organizational growth: A review and trends. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7(6), 125-131. https://doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.06.25
- Kayser, D. N., Greitemeyer, T., Fischer, P., & Frey, D. (2010). Why mood affects help giving, but not moral courage: Comparing two types of prosocial behaviour. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 40(7), 1136-1157. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.717
- Khan, F., Rasli, A. MD., Yusoff, R. Md., & Ahmad, A. (2015). Do demographic make a difference to job burnout among university academicians? *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 5(Special Issue), 229-237.
- Kim, W. (2017). Examining mediation effects of work engagement among job resources, job performance, and turnover intention. *Performance Improvement* https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21235
- Kim, W., Han, S., & Park, J. (2019). Is the role of work engagement essential to employee performance or 'Nice to have'? *Sustainability*, 11(4), 1050. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11041050
- Kim, W., Kolb, J. A., & Kim, T. (2012). The relationship between work engagement and performance: A review of empirical literature and a proposed research agenda. *Human Resource Development Review*, 12(3), 248-276. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484312461635
- Kirk-Brown, A., & Dijk, P. V. (2011). Safe to engage: Chronic illness and organisational citizenship behaviours at work. *International Journal of Disability Management*, 6(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1375/jdmr.6.1.1

- Klassen, R. M., Aldhafri, S., Mansfiel, C. F., Purwanto, E., Siu, A. F., Wong, M. W., & Woods-McConney, A. (2012). Teacher' engagement at work: An international validation study. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 80(4), 317-337. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2012.678409
- Koopmans, L., Bernaards, C. M., Hildebrandt, V. H., Buuren, S. V., Beek, A. J., & Vet, H. C. W. (2014). Improving the work performance questionnaire using Rasch analysis. *Journal of Applied Measurement*, 15(2), 160-175.
- Koopmans, L., Bernaards, C. M., Hildebrandt, V. H., Lerner, D., De Vet, H. C., & Van der Beek, A. J. (2015). Cross-cultural adaptation of the individual work performance questionnaire. *Work: A Journal of Prevention, Assessment & Rehabilitation*, 53(3), 609-619. https://doi.org/10.3233/wor-152237
- Koopmans, L., Bernaards, C. M., Hildebrandt, V. H., Schaufeli, W. B., De Vet, H. C., & Van der Beek, A. J. (2011). Conceptual frameworks of individual work performance. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 53(8), 856-866. https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.0b013e318226a763
- Koopmans, L., Bernaards, C., Hildebrandt, V., Buuren, S. V., Beek, A. J., & Vet, H. C. W. (2012). Development of an individual work performance questionnaire. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 62(1), 6-28. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410401311285273
- Krings, F., & Bollmann, G. (2011). Managing counterproductive work behaviors. In G. Palazzo & M. Wentland (Eds.), *Responsible Management Practices for the 21st Century* (pp. 151-159). Pearson.
- Kura, K. M., Shamsudin, F. M., Umrani, W. A., & Salleh, N. M. (2019). Linking human resource development practices to counterproductive work behaviour: Does employee engagement matter. *Journal of African* doi:10.1080/15228916.2019.1583974
- Lai, A. (2020, May 15). Survey finds drop in worker productivity during CMCO period. The Star Online. https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2020/05/15/survey-findsdrop-in-worker-productivity-during-cmco-period
- Leahey, E. (2006). Gender differences in productivity. *Gender & Society*, 20(6), 754-780. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243206293030
- Lebrón, M., Tabak, F., Shkoler, O., & Rabenu, E. (2018). Counterproductive work behaviors toward organization and leader-member exchange: The mediating roles of emotional exhaustion and work

engagement. *Organization Management Journal*, *15*(4), 159-173. https://doi.org/10.1080/15416518.2018.1528857

- Lee, C. S. (2016). Job embeddedness, work engagement, and ethical work climate on turnover intention of academic staff in private higher educational institutions [Doctoral dissertation]. http://eprints.usm.my/31691/1/CHING_SOCK_LEE_24%28NN%29.p df
- Lee, C., & Huang, S. Y. (2019). A moderated mediation examination of Kahn's theory in the development of new product performance. *Chinese Management Studies*, 13(3), 603-615. https://doi.org/10.1108/cms-10-2017-0301
- Lev, S., & Koslowsky, M. (2012). On-the-job embeddedness as a mediator between conscientiousness and school teachers' contextual performance. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 21(1), 57-83. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2010.535656
- Little, L. M., Nelson, D. L., Wallace, J. C., & Johnson, P. D. (2011). Integrating attachment style, vigor at work, and extra-role performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 32(3), 464-484. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.709
- Littman-Ovadia, H., & Balducci, C. (2013). Psychometric properties of the Hebrew version of the Utrecht work engagement scale (UWES-9). European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 29(1), 58-63. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000121
- Liu, C., Liu, Y., Mills, M. J., & Fan, J. (2013). Job stressors, job performance, job dedication, and the moderating effect of conscientiousness: A mixed-method approach. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 20(4), 336-363. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034841
- Lowen, L. (2019, July 25). *4 important qualities of women leaders*. ThoughtCo. https://www.thoughtco.com/qualities-of-women-leaders-3533957
- Ludviga, I., & Kalvina, A. (2016). Exploring the relationships between job satisfaction, work engagement and loyalty of academic staff. *International Scholarly and Scientific Research & Innovation*, 10(1), 99-105.
- Maher, F. A. (1987). Toward a Richer theory of feminist pedagogy: A comparison of "Liberation" and "Gender" models for teaching and learning. *Journal of Education*, 169(3), 91-100. https://doi.org/10.1177/002205748716900308.
- Mahmoud, M. A., Ahmad, S., & Poespowidjojo, D. A. (2020). Intrapreneurial behavior, Big Five personality and individual

- Mardiana, H. (2020). Lecturers' adaptability to technological change and its impact on the teaching process. *Jurnal Pendidikan Indonesia*, 9(2), 275. https://doi.org/10.23887/jpi-undiksha.v9i2.24595
- McKenzie, S. B., Podsakoff, P. M., & Fetter, R. (1991). Organizational citizenship behavior and objective productivity as determinants of managerial evaluations of salespersons' performance. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50(1), 123-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90037-t
- Meneghel, I., Borgogni, L., Miraglia, M., Salanova, M., & Martínez, I. M. (2016). From social context and resilience to performance through job satisfaction: A multilevel study over time. *Human Relations*, 69(11), 2047-2067. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726716631808
- Meyers, M. C., Kooij, D., Kroon, B., De Reuver, R., & Van Woerkom, M. (2019). Organizational support for strengths use, work engagement, and contextual performance: The moderating role of age. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 15(2), 485-502. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-018-9702-4
- Moore, K. (2014, January 17). *The crisis in worker engagement & the 2 things you should do about it.* Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/karlmoore/2014/01/17/the-crisis-inworker-engagement-the-2-things-you-should-do-aboutit/#204b938c7e05
- Motyka, B. (2018). Employee engagement and performance: A systematic literature review. *International Journal of Management and Economics*, 54(3), 227-244. doi:10.2478/ijme-2018-0018
- Muda, I., Rafiki, A., & Harahap, M. R. (2014). Factors influencing employees' performance: A study on the Islamic banks in Islamic Science University of Malaysia University of North Sumatera. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 5(2), 73-81.
- Muldoon, J., Keough, S. M., & Liguori, E. (2017) The Role of Job Dedication in OCB Performance, *Management Research Review*, https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2016-0168
- Nguyen, H. M., Nguyen, C., Ngo, T. T., & Nguyen, L. V. (2019). The effects of job crafting on work engagement and work performance: A study of Vietnamese commercial banks. *The Journal of Asian Finance*, *Economics and Business*, 6(2), 189-201. https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2019.vol6.no2.189
- Nuruzzakiyah, M. I., Ezrin, H. S., & Hanida, A. A. (2020). The correlation between psychosocial risk factors and work performance in manufacturing industry. *Malaysian Journal of Public Health*

23-29.

- Osborne, S., & Hammoud, M. S. (2017). Effective employee engagement in the workplace. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, *16*(1), 50-67. https://doi.org/10.5590/ijamt.2017.16.1.04
- Palloff, R. M., & Pratt, K. (2001). Lessons from the cyberspace classroom: The realities of online teaching. John Wiley & Sons.
- Paulhus, D. L., & Vazire, S. (2007). The self-report method. In R. W. Robins,
 R. C. Fraley, & R. Krueger (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods in personality psychology* (pp. 224–239). Guilford Press.
- Pressman, S. D., & Cohen, S. (2005). Does positive affect influence health? *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(6), 925-971. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.131.6.925
- Quinn, R. W., & Dutton, J. E. (2005). Coordination as energy-in-Conversation. *Academy of Management Review*, 30(1), 36-57. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2005.15281422
- Raman, P., Sambasivan, M., & Kumar, N. (2016). Counterproductive work behavior among frontline government employees: Role of personality, emotional intelligence, affectivity, emotional labor, and emotional exhaustion. *Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones*, 32(1), 25-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rpto.2015.11.002
- Ramos-Villagrasa, P. J., Barrada, J. R., Fernández-del-Río, E., & Koopmans, L. (2019). Assessing job performance using brief self-report scales: The case of the work performance questionnaire. *Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones*, 35(3), 195-205. https://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2019a21
- Rana, S., Pant, D., & Chopra, P. (2019). Work engagement and work performance: Research findings and an agenda for employee relationships. *Journal of Emerging Technologies and Innovative Research*, 6(5), 17-32.
- Rashidi, N., & Naderi, S. (2012). The effect of gender on the patterns of classroom interaction. *Education*, 2(3), 30-36. https://doi.org/10.5923/j.edu.20120203.02
- Reijseger, G., Peeters, M. C., Taris, T. W., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2017). From motivation to activation: Why engaged workers are better performers. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 32(2), 117-130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-016-9435-z
- Rich, B. L., Lepine, J. A., & Crawford, E. R. (2010). Job engagement: Antecedents and effects on job performance. Academy of Management Journal, 53(3), 617-635. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2010.51468988
- Robinson, S. L., & O'Leary-Kelly, A. M. (1998). Monkey see, monkey do: The influence of work groups on the antisocial behavior of employees. *Academy of Management Journal*, 41(6), 658-672.
- Roseline, M. B., & Konya, K. T. (2019). Employee dedication and performance of transport operators in the marine sector in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. *International Journal of Advanced Academic Research*, 5(5), 18-33.
- Rotundo, M., & Sackett, P. R. (2002). The relative importance of task, citizenship, and counterproductive performance to global ratings of job performance: A policy-capturing approach. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(1), 66-80. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.1.66
- Rowley, J. (1996). Motivation and academic staff in higher education. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 4(3), 11-16. doi:10.1108/09684889610125814
- Russo, J. (2018, January 22). *The problem with being dedicated and passionate*. Joe Russo. https://www.joerussori.com/problem-dedicated-passionate/
- Satavuthi, T., & Chaipoopirutana, S. (2014). The exploration of the factors affecting on in-role job performance: A case study for Thai Nondestructive Testing Public Company Limited's employees. International Conference on Business, Law and Corporate Social Responsibility, 65-68. http://dx.doi.org/10.15242/ICEHM.ED1014050
- Schaufeli, W. B. (2012). Work engagement. What do we know and where do we go? *Romanian Journal of Applied Psychology*, *14*(*1*), 3-10.
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Bakker, A. B. (2003). Utrecht work engagement scale: Preliminary Manual. *Occupational Health Psychology Unit*. https://www.wilmarschaufeli.nl/publications/Schaufeli/Test%20Manua ls/Test_manual_UWES_English.pdf
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Van Rhenen, W. (2006). About the role of positive and negative emotions in managers' well-being: A study using the Job related Affective Well-being Scale (JAWS). Gedrag & Organisatie, 19(4), 223-244.
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., & Salanova, M. (2006). The measurement of work engagement with a short questionnaire: A cross-sectional study. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 66(4), 701-716. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164405282471
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., & Van Rhenen, W. (2009). How changes in job demands and resources predict burnout, work engagement, and sickness absenteeism. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 30(7), 893-917. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.595

- Schaufeli, W. B., Shimazu, A., Hakanen, J., Salanova, M., & De Witte, H. (2017). An ultra-short measure for work engagement. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 35(4), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000430
- Seo, M., Barrett, L. F., & Bartunek, J. M. (2004). The role of affective experience in work motivation. *The Academy of Management Review*, 29(3), 423. https://doi.org/10.2307/20159052
- Seppälä, P., Mauno, S., Feldt, T., Hakanen, J., Kinnunen, U., Tolvanen, A., & Schaufeli, W. (2008). The construct validity of the Utrecht work engagement scale: Multisample and longitudinal evidence. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 10(4), 459-481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-008-9100-y
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 3: Cross-sectional studies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 61(3), 261-264. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Shantz, A., Alfes, K., & Arevshatian, L. (2016). HRM in healthcare: The role of work engagement. *Personnel Review*, 45(2), 274-295. https://doi.org/10.1108/pr-09-2014-0203
- Shantz, A., Alfes, K., Truss, C., & Soane, E. (2013). The role of employee engagement in the relationship between job design and task performance, citizenship and deviant behaviours. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24(13), 2608-2627. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2012.744334
- Sharma, G. (2017). Pros and cons of different sampling techniques. *International Journal of Applied Research*, *3*(7), 749-752.
- Shekari, H. (2015). Evaluating the three dimensions of work engagement in social security organization of Yazd Province in Iran. *Journal of Educational and Management Studies*, 5(3), 168-174.
- Shieh, G. (2010). On the misconception of multicollinearity in detection of moderating effects: Multicollinearity is not always detrimental. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 45(3), 483-507. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273171.2010.483393
- Shirom, A. (2004). Feeling vigorous at work? The construct of vigor and the study of positive affect in organizations. *Research in Organizational Stress and Well-being*, 3, 135-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1479-3555(03)03004-x
- Shirom, A. (2007). Explaining vigor: On the antecedents and consequences of vigor as a positive affect at work. In C. L. Cooper & D. Nelson (Eds.), Organizational behavior: Accentuating the positive at work (pp. 86-100). Sage.

- Shirom, A. (2011). Vigor as a positive affect at work: Conceptualizing vigor, its relations with related constructs, and its antecedents and consequences. *Review of General Psychology*, 15(1), 50-64. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021853
- Sia, J. K., & Adamu, A. A. (2020). Facing the unknown: Pandemic and higher education in Malaysia. Asian Education and Development Studies. doi:10.1108/aeds-05-2020-0114
- Sinval, J., Pasian, S., Queirós, C., & Marôco, J. (2018). Brazil-Portugal transcultural adaptation of the UWES-9: Internal consistency, dimensionality, and measurement invariance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00353
- Sittar, K. (2020). Relationship of work engagements and job performance of university teachers. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 42(1), 167-183.
- Spector, P. E., & Fox, S. (2002). An emotion-centered model of voluntary work behaviour: some parallels between counterproductive work behaviour (CWB) and organisational citizenship behaviour (OCB). Human Resources Management Review.
- Spector, P. E., & Zhou, Z. E. (2013). The moderating role of gender in relationships of stressors and personality with counterproductive work behavior. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 29(4), 669-681. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-013-9307-8
- Spector, P. E., Fox, S., Penney, L. M., Bruursema, K., Goh, A., & Kessler, S. (2006). The dimensionality of counterproductivity: Are all counterproductive behaviors created equal? *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 68(3), 446-460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2005.10.005
- Spicer, A. (2020, May 6). *Finding endless video calls exhausting? You're not alone*. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/findingendless-video-calls-exhausting-youre-not-alone-137936
- Statham, A., Richardson, L., & Cook, J. A. (1991). Gender and University teaching: A negotiated difference. SUNY Presss
- Storm, K., & Rothmann, S. (2003). A psychometric analysis of the Utrecht work engagement scale in the South African police service. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 29(4), 62-70. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v29i4.129
- Su, R., Rounds, J., & Armstrong, P. I. (2009). Men and things, women and people: A meta-analysis of sex differences in interests. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(6), 859-884. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017364
- Supiano, B. (2020, April 23). Why is Zoom so exhausting? The Chronicle of Higher Education. https://www.chronicle.com/article/Why-Is-Zoom-So-Exhausting/248619?cid=wcontentgrid_hp_1b-

- Tapsir, S.H. (2016, Jan 19). A strategy for the next decade of Malaysian higher education. Paper presented at The Association of Commonwealth Universities Perspectives Speaker Series, London, United Kingdom.
- Thakur, G. (2015). The influence of demographic characteristics on performance of academic employees in Kenyatta University [Master's thesis]. http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/94948/Thakur_T he+Influence+of+Demographic+Characteristics+on+Performance+of+ Academic+Employees+in+Kenyatta+University.pdf?sequence=3
- Tims, M., Bakker, A. B., & Derks, D. (2015). Job crafting and job performance: A longitudinal study. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24(6), 914–928. doi:10.1080/1359432x.2014.969245
- Tsai, W., Chen, C., & Liu, H. (2007). Test of a model linking employee positive moods and task performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(6), 1570-1583. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.6.1570
- Ugwu, C. I. (2017). Demographic variables and job performance of librarians in university libraries in South East Nigeria. *Library Philosophy and Practice* (*e-journal*), 1553. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/libphilprac/1553
- Ulusoy, N., Mölders, C., Fischer, S., Bayur, H., Deveci, S., Demiral, Y., & Rössler, W. (2016). A matter of psychological safety. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 47(4), 626-645. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022115626513
- UNESCO. (2020, June 15). COVID-19 impact on education. https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse
- Ushie, E. M., Agba, A. M., Ogaboh, & Okorie, C. (2015). Work environment and employees' commitment in agro-based Industries in Cross River State, Nigeria. *Global Journal of Human-Social Science Sociology & Culture*, 15(6), 8-15.
- Van Scotter, J.R. (1994), "Evidence for the usefulness of task performance, job dedication, and interpersonal facilitation as components of overall performance (No. AFIT/CI-94-03-D)", Air Force Inst of Tech Wright-Patterson Afb, Ohi
- Van Scotter, J. R., & Motowidlo, S. J. (1996). Interpersonal facilitation and job dedication as separate facets of contextual performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(5), 525-531. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.81.5.525
- Wasilowski, S. (2018). Employee engagement in higher education: Financial impact of engagement in higher education. *Journal of Social Science Research*, 12(2), 2700-2712. https://doi.org/10.24297/jssr.v12i2.7435

- Widyastuti, T., & Hidayat, R. (2018). Adaptation of individual work performance questionnaire (IWPQ) into Bahasa Indonesia. International Journal of Research Studies in Psychology, 7(2), 101-112. https://doi.org/10.5861/ijrsp.2018.3020
- Wieczorek-Szymańska, A. (2020). Gender diversity in academic sector—Case study. *Administrative Sciences*, *10*(3), 41. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci10030041
- Williams, L. J., & Anderson, S. E. (1991). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment as predictors of organizational citizenship and in-role behaviors. Journal of Management, 17, 601–617.
- Xanthopoulou, D., Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2009).
 Work engagement and financial returns: A diary study on the role of job and personal resources. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 82(1), 183-200. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317908x285633
- Yew, T. S., Sidek, M. Y., Jalil, R. A., & Arifin, W. N. (2017). Confirmatory factor analysis of the Malay version of Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES-M). *International Journal of Public Health and Clinical Sciences*, 4, 77-86.
- Yongxing, G., Hongfei, D., Baoguo, X., & Lei, M. (2017). Work engagement and job performance: The moderating role of perceived organizational support. *Anales de Psicología*, *33*(3), 708-713. https://doi.org/10.6018/analesps.33.3.238571
- Zhong, L., Wayne, S. J., & Liden, R. C. (2016). Job engagement, perceived organizational support, high-performance human resource practices, and cultural value orientations: A cross-level investigation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 37(6), 823-844. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2076
- Zounek, J., & Sudický, P. (2013, June). *Heads in the cloud: Pros and cons of online learning* [Paper presentation]. New technologies and media literacy education, Prague.

APPENDIX A

Ethical Approval for Research Project



Research Title	Job Engagement and Individual Work Performance Among Academic Staff in Higher Education Institution in Malaysia
Investigator(s)	Dr Lee Lai Meng Mr Tan Soon Aun Rodney Sin Ming Keen
Research Area	Social Sciences
Research Location	Online Study
No of Participants	400 participants (Age: 18 - 60)
Research Costs	Self-funded
Approval Validity	13 April 2021 - 12 April 2022

The conduct of this research is subject to the following:

(1) The participants' informed consent be obtained prior to the commencement of the research,

(2) Confidentiality of participants' personal data must be maintained; and

(3) Compliance with procedures set out in related policies of UTAR such as the UTAR Research Educs and Code of Conduct, Code of Practice for Research Involving Humans and other related policies/guidelines.

Should you collect personal data of participants in your study, please have the participants sign the attached Personal Data Protection Statement for your records. The University wishes you all the best in your research.

Thank you.

Yours sincerely,

Professor T3 Dr Faidz bin Abd Rahman Chairman UTAR Scientific and Ethical Review Committee

c.c Dean, Faculty of Arts and Social Science Director, Institute of Postgraduate Studies and Research





Kompur Changes : Mari Thiotoni, Bandar Sheni, 1980 Kangar, Pank Dani Bahman, Malapsia Tal-Stor And Mills Fax (2005) 463 (213) Sengal Ling Change : Jain Rong Ling, Bender Roget Ling, Chana, 4300) Edging, Seinger Dani Zhan, Malaysia Tal, 2003 980 (233) Fax: (2003) 2019 2000



APPENDIX B

9-items Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES-9) (Schaufeli & Bakker,

2003)

Instructions: Please read the following statements and for each, circle the number that best represents you. The rating scale is as follows:

Never	Almost	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very	Always
	Never				Often	
0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Never	A few	Once a	A few	Once a	A few	Every
	times a	month	times a	week	times a	day
	year or	or less	month		week	
	less					

1)	At my work, I feel bursting with energy	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
2)	At my job, I feel strong and vigorous	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
3)	I am enthusiastic about my job	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
4)	My job inspires me	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
5)	When I get up in the morning, I feel like going to	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
worl	k							
6)	I feel happy when I am working intensely	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
7)	I am proud on the work that I do	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
8)	I am immersed in my work	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
9)	I get carried away when I'm working	0	1	2	3	4	5	6

APPENDIX C

Individual Work Performance Questionnaire (IWPQ) (Koopmans et al., 2014)

The following questions relate to your behaviour at work in the last 3 months. To get a true picture of your conduct at work, it is important that you respond as carefully and honestly as possible. If you are not sure how to answer a question in particular, please give the best possible answer.

To begin, answer the following questions by using this scale:

Seldom	Sometimes	Frequently	Often	Always
0	1	2	3	4

Question		Sca	ale			
1	I managed to plan my work so that it was done on	0	1	2	3	4
	time.					
2	My planning was optimal.	0	1	2	3	4
3	I kept in mind the results that I had to achieve in	0	1	2	3	4
	my work.					
4	I was able to separate main issues from side issues	0	1	2	3	4
	at work.					
5	I was able to perform my work well with	0	1	2	3	4
	minimum time and effort.					
6	I took on extra responsibilities.	0	1	2	3	4
7	I started new tasks myself, when my old ones	0	1	2	3	4
	were finished.					
8	I took on challenging work tasks, when available.	0	1	2	3	4
9	I worked at keeping my job knowledge up-to-date.	0	1	2	3	4
10	I worked at keeping my job skills up-to-date.	0	1	2	3	4
11	I came up with creative solutions to new	0	1	2	3	4
	problems.					
12	I kept looking for new challenges in my job.	0	1	2	3	4
13	I actively participated in work meetings.	0	1	2	3	4

To continue, answer the following questions by using this scale:

Ν	lever	Seldom	Sometimes	Frequently	y		Oft	en	
	0 1 2 3					4			
Ques	Question								
14	I compl	ained about un	important matter	rs at work.	0	1	2	3	4
15	I made problems greater that they were at work. 0 1 2 3 4								
16	I focus	ed on the ne	egative aspects	of a work	0	1	2	3	4
	situation	n, instead of or	the positive asp	pects.					
17	I spoke with colleagues about the negative aspects 0 1 2 3 4					4			
	of my work.								
18	I spoke	with people fr	om outside the	organization	0	1	2	3	4
	about the negative aspects of my work.								

APPENDIX D

Demographic Question

Please fill in your personal details or circle **ONE** option.

a.) Age:		
b.) Gender:	1. Male 2. Female	
c.) Ethnicity:	1. Malay 2. Chinese	3. Indian 4. Others. (<i>Specify:</i>)
d.) Religion:	1. Muslim 2. Buddhist	 3. Hindu 4. Christian
		5. Others. (<i>Specify:</i>)
e.) Employment	status:	 Employed, (Specify:) Unemployed (housewife) Student
f.) Estimated Mo	onthly Income:	RM
g.) Physical work	environment (past 3 months): 1. Home
		 2. Office 3. Others. (<i>Specify:</i>)
h.) Highest Educa	ational Level (c	ompleted):1. PMR 2. STPM/Foundation/Diploma
		 3. Degree 4. Master Degree 5. PhD
i.) Relationship s		gle3. Engageda relationship4. Married

APPENDIX E

Histogram, Normal Q-Q plot and Boxplot

Vigour







Dedication



Absorption







Task Performance



Contextual Performance



Counterproductive Work Behaviour



APPENDIX F

Scatterplot

Task Performance



Contextual Performance



Counterproductive Work Behaviour

